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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I call the

          3  hearing to order. My name is Charles Barron, Chair

          4  of the Higher Education Committee for the New York

          5  City Council.

          6                 I want to welcome you to this

          7  critical hearing on tuition increase and the state

          8  of our struggle to maintain the tuition at the level

          9  it is now. I want to introduce my colleagues.

         10  Council Member Bill Perkins, the Deputy Majority

         11  Leader of the City Council; Council Member Margarita

         12  Lopez, and Council Member Gale Brewer.

         13                 I want to thank all of them for

         14  coming here today, and my lawyer and confidante,

         15  special, special person, Martiza. Please give her a

         16  hand-clap, she does a lot of work.

         17                 And I know I shouldn't say this

         18  because I'll get in trouble, but I have the best

         19  Chief of Staff in the City Council, and that is Mr.

         20  Paul Washington. He's a very, very humble

         21  intellectual. He said, Charles, don't say that, but

         22  I have to say it because he's the greatest, I don't

         23  know what I'd do without him.

         24                 And I also want to welcome my son and

         25  his buddy. My son Jowanza and Demeek. Please stand
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          2  up. They are both students at CUNY. One's at Medgar

          3  Evers and the other is at BMCC.

          4                 I'm going to read my opening

          5  statement for the record, and the we have a lot of

          6  people testifying, so I will ask so we can get

          7  through all of the testimony, we do have a

          8  resolution that we want to vote on today, vote it

          9  out of Committee, and get it to the larger Council

         10  that will be calling to hold the line on any tuition

         11  hikes and maintain the level of funding for the City

         12  University. So, we want to make sure that we get

         13  that resolution passed and forward to the larger

         14  Council. My colleagues have very, very busy

         15  schedules, I'm so glad that they will stay around

         16  for the vote so we can get the resolution passed out

         17  of Committee.

         18                 I said that already, it says "good

         19  morning here." I said that already, it's afternoon.

         20                 I would like to welcome my colleagues

         21  and all of you to this hearing today. Today the

         22  members of the Committee will vote on resolution

         23  number 585, which urges the City, the State and the

         24  New York State Legislature to continue funding the

         25  City University of New York at current levels, so as
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          2  to avoid tuition increases, cuts to financial aid

          3  programs, such as TAP, SEEK and the College

          4  Discovery Program, and the Peter Vallone Academic

          5  Scholarship Program, and thereby avoid unjustly

          6  balancing government's budget on the backs of

          7  college students and their families.

          8                 Resolution 585 calls upon the Mayor,

          9  the Governor and the New York State Legislature to

         10  increase financial support for higher education and

         11  hold the line on tuition increases and ensure the

         12  future of the CUNY senior and community colleges and

         13  educational institutions that provide a crucial and

         14  viable economic workforce and tax base for this City

         15  and state.

         16                 At today's hearing the Committee also

         17  continues its oversight on the escalating cost of

         18  Higher Education in this City and State.

         19                 This week the Governor has once again

         20  proposed to reduce funding for higher education,

         21  shifting dollars out of important programs such as

         22  SEEK and TAP. The Governor's proposal to change TAP

         23  requires the deferral of one-third of the grants

         24  eligible students and the awarding of these monies

         25  after the student graduates and obtains their
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          2  degree. A whole lot of sense that makes.

          3                 This is essentially the same proposal

          4  made by the Governor in 2002. He backed up off it

          5  when he was running for office, and now that he's in

          6  office he betrayed the trust of those who voted for

          7  him, those who did, he betrayed their trust and now

          8  this puts it back on the table.

          9                 At CUNY, for the academic year 2002

         10  through 2003, the impact of TAP awards on students

         11  is as follows:

         12                 In community colleges the number of

         13  recipients of TAP is 25,000 and that is full TAP

         14  awards total $41 million.

         15                 Senior colleges it's 46,000 students

         16  and the total is 89 million.

         17                 In addition, statewide TAP provides

         18  awards to an estimated 90,000 independent colleges.

         19  A large portion of these students is likely to be

         20  enrolled in New York City colleges.

         21                 The Committee is concerned that the

         22  Governor's proposed changes to TAP creates a greater

         23  debt burden on students and could even risk the

         24  ability of CUNY students to graduate and obtain

         25  their degrees.
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          2                 In addition, the Governor has

          3  proposed to suspend the following scholarships for

          4  new students in 2003, 2004. The Scholarships of

          5  Academic Excellence, the Regents Health Care

          6  Opportunity Scholarships, the Regents Professional

          7  Opportunity Scholarships, and the CUNY SEEK program

          8  for economically disadvantaged students of color.

          9                 These proposed reductions in college

         10  funding programs creates significant hardships for

         11  students and their families which we consider simply

         12  unacceptable.

         13                 For many years CUNY has fulfilled its

         14  education mission of access and excellence without

         15  charging tuition at colleges.

         16                 You know, we used to have free

         17  tuition, free tuition. Then when the complexion of

         18  the University changed, now we have tuition. And we

         19  are not going to stand for that. We have a

         20  committee. We have a committee that we have put

         21  together to examinee the fiscal feasibility of going

         22  back to free tuition. Free tuition.

         23                 In 1976, CUNY began charging tuition,

         24  and for the past two decades, tuition costs and fees

         25  have increased dramatically.
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          2                 Currently undergraduate resident

          3  tuition at CUNY is $3,200 per year at the senior

          4  colleges, 2,500 per year at the community colleges.

          5  Twenty-five hundred per year at the community

          6  college.

          7                 In addition, during the 2000/2001

          8  academic year, student fees averaged approximately

          9  $800 nearly double the amount charged for fees in

         10  the 1995/'96 academic year.

         11                 CUNY students are of diverse ethnic

         12  and racial backgrounds, and many of these same

         13  students are of lower and middle income backgrounds.

         14                 According to an article in the Daily

         15  News on January 8th, 2003, proposed tuition

         16  increases could be as high as 20 percent at CUNY and

         17  SUNY. This Committee is especially concerned with

         18  the desperate impact of these higher education

         19  funding policies on students' disparate impact of

         20  these higher education funding policies on students

         21  of color.

         22                 While the Committee believes that

         23  excellence should be maintained, we are also

         24  strongly believe that access should not be

         25  compromised at CUNY.

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 Access to higher education often

          3  correlates to family income and social economic

          4  class. A 1998 survey conducted by the Department of

          5  Housing Preservation and Development, estimated the

          6  following median household incomes in New York City

          7  by race and ethnicity: White, 43,000;

          8  African-American, 28,000; Puerto Rican, 20,800;

          9  non-Puerto Rican, Latino, 24,000; Asian, 40,000;

         10  Native American, 26,000; all New Yorkers average,

         11  33,000.

         12                 Consequently, students of color and

         13  immigrants are most likely to be impacted by tuition

         14  increases and cuts in grant monies.

         15                 According to an article written by

         16  Professor John Hylan of CUNY in 1976, "when tuition

         17  was first charged at the University, CUNY lost over

         18  50,000 students, and in 1995 when the tuition was

         19  increased by $750,000, CUNY lost 8,000 students."

         20                 According to CUNY statistics, for the

         21  fall of 2000, the enrolled percentages for

         22  undergraduate students by race and ethnicity are as

         23  follows: 31.7 percent black, 25.6 percent Latino,

         24  13.7 percent Asian Pacific Islander; and 0.2 percent

         25  American Indian Native Alaskan.
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          2                 These students are most likely to be

          3  disproportionately impacted by the Governor's

          4  proposed funding cuts to higher education and

          5  tuition increases.

          6                 The Governor's attempt to close the

          7  State budget gap on the backs of students

          8  jeopardizes the future of many bring, worthwhile

          9  students, including students of color.

         10                 Many students of color and

         11  immigrants, CUNY provides a ladder to upward

         12  mobility, and important to contribute to society in

         13  meaningful ways.

         14                 According to a 2002 report of the New

         15  York Public Interest Research Group, NYPIRG, CUNY

         16  estimates that each year, New York City and State

         17  derived $700 million more in taxes from the students

         18  who graduated from CUNY, between 1970 and 1997. We

         19  contribute $700 million to the State and City's

         20  economy.

         21                 In addition, these same individuals

         22  spend $4.6 billion more in New York each year than

         23  they would have spent had they not earned a CUNY

         24  college degree.

         25                 As has been reported in three
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          2  previous oversight hearings of this Committee on

          3  CUNY's academic policy, universities statistical

          4  data reports that impact on enrollment rates for

          5  students of diverse rates and ethnicities, due to

          6  the new academic standards, shows a slight downward

          7  trend in the enrollment of African Americans and

          8  Latinos at the University, and we don't take that

          9  trend lightly.

         10                 Some others say it's no difference,

         11  it's marginal, it is serious.

         12                 Tuition increases and cuts to grants

         13  and scholarships will further jeopardize the ability

         14  of students of diverse races and ethnicities to

         15  access higher education.

         16                 This Committee is concerned that

         17  these trends, which appear to indicate decreases in

         18  the enrollment of racial and ethnic groups at CUNY,

         19  will have adversely impacted the ability of these

         20  students to graduate from a CUNY college.

         21                 This Committee believes it is

         22  important for the University to vigorously seek to

         23  fulfill its mission of providing access, as well as

         24  excellence for all New Yorkers who wish to better

         25  their lives.
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          2                 Despite substantial budget gaps,

          3  these times present many challenges for educators

          4  and University administrators to provide

          5  opportunities for higher education, and obtaining a

          6  CUNY senior college diploma should be made

          7  accessible for all New Yorkers.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 Now we shall proceed with hearing

         10  from our witnesses.

         11                 MS. BOLANOS: Our first panel of

         12  witnesses are Miriam Kramer, and Charlene Piper from

         13  NYPIRG.

         14                 Dennis Sinned from BMCC; Shamsul

         15  Haque, Chair of the University Student Senate, at

         16  CUNY; and Suzan Hammad of Hunter College.

         17                 Okay, the USS chair is not present at

         18  this time, so we'll call forward --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Here he is.

         20                 MS. BOLANOS: Oh, he is here. Sorry.

         21  Please proceed.

         22                 Let me just swear all of you in. It's

         23  a procedure we have here at the Council.

         24                 Please raise your right hand. Do you

         25  each swear that the testimony you're going to
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          2  provide before this Committee is the whole truth,

          3  and that you promise to answer Council member

          4  questions truthfully?

          5                 MR. SINNED: I do.

          6                 MS. HAMMAD: I do.

          7                 MS. PIPER: I do.

          8                 MR. HAQUE: I do.

          9                 MS. KRAMER: I do.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please state your

         11  name and organization that you're representing

         12  before you begin your testimony and we will start on

         13  my left, your right.

         14                 MS. PIPER: My name is Charlene Piper.

         15  I'm a student at Brooklyn College, and I'm also the

         16  Chairperson of NYPIRG Board of Directors.

         17                 With me is Miriam Kramer, NYPIRG's

         18  Higher Education Coordinator.

         19                 We are here today to comment on

         20  Governor Pataki's Higher Education budget proposal

         21  and to urge the Council Higher Education Committee

         22  and the City Council to pass Resolution 585 and

         23  reject the Governor's proposed cuts for New York's

         24  colleges and University.

         25                 Like many other students, I struggled
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          2  to afford my tuition as it is. I rely on financial

          3  aid, specifically the Tuition Assistance Program and

          4  the Peter F. Vallone Merit Scholarship to pay my

          5  tuition.

          6                 After my father died, my mother was

          7  left to raise my sister and me by herself, and to

          8  figure out how to put both of us through college.

          9                 The tuition increase, coupled with

         10  cuts to TAP and the elimination of the Peter F.

         11  Vallone scholarship would effectively end my college

         12  career, in spite of all the sacrifices my family has

         13  made and that I'm only six classes away from

         14  graduation.

         15                 The Governor's higher education

         16  budget proposal is a triple whammy assault on

         17  college students and their families with an

         18  outrageous tuition increase, cuts to financial aid

         19  and essential campus services.

         20                 It further shifts the burden to fund

         21  higher education away from the State and onto the

         22  backs of college students and their families.

         23                 We have not yet hard of any other

         24  constituency being hit with roughly a 38 percent tax

         25  increase on top of service cuts and students already
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          2  pay more than their fair share.

          3                 MS. KRAMER: I just wanted to go over

          4  some of the main points in the budget.

          5                 MS. BOLANOS: I'm sorry to interrupt.

          6  I have a request from the Chair.

          7                 We'd like to get a diverse panel of

          8  students up here, so we want to call three more

          9  students beyond this first panel, and we will

         10  proceed with your testimony. Thank you.

         11                 Okay, Ms. Agnes Abraham, from Medgar

         12  Evers; Crystal Noel, from Medgar Evers; and Kevin

         13  Bynoe, also from Medgar Evers.

         14                 If you three students that I just

         15  called up would just raise your right hand, so I can

         16  swear you in, and we will proceed immediately.

         17                 Do you swear that the testimony you

         18  are about to provide before this Committee is the

         19  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

         20  questions truthfully?

         21                 Okay, before you start your

         22  testimony, you'll need to state your name and

         23  organization. We will now proceed with Ms. Kramer

         24  from NYPIRG.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MS. KRAMER: Okay. So, I just wanted

          3  to go over a few of the details on the budget and

          4  talk about this triple blow to students and how it's

          5  really impacting them. I mean, I'm sure their

          6  personal stories will be much more telling, but in

          7  terms of the actual details of the proposal, we're

          8  talking about a $1,200 tuition increase that's going

          9  to propose, which would bring CUNY for a senior

         10  college tuition to $4,400, and that's just the

         11  tuition. We're not talking about fees, we're not

         12  talking about books, we're not talking about

         13  transportation, it's just the absolute minimum that

         14  students at CUNY would be required to pay. And we're

         15  not only talking about a tuition increase, we're

         16  talking about an assault on financial aid.

         17                 The Governor is proposing to reduce

         18  the TAP program by one-third. Meaning that a student

         19  who receives a $2,000 award, for example, would only

         20  receive $2,000 while they're in school, and if and

         21  when they graduate, would get that $1,000 back.

         22                 So, what essentially the Governor is

         23  doing is trying to borrow from students to be able

         24  to fund state budget, which is absolutely wrong and

         25  bad public policy. Steal. I was being nice.
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          2                 And it's not as if the TAP program

          3  already isn't very restrictive. It's a good program,

          4  it's one of the best in the nation, but there are

          5  already many requirements that students must have

          6  before they can get these awards.

          7                 After two semesters, students must

          8  maintain a C average. In many cases you have to be a

          9  full-time student. I know there's a part-time

         10  program that's a pilot project at CUNY, but I'm not

         11  sure that every part-time student gets this at CUNY.

         12                 And you can only get it for four

         13  years, and in some cases five years, so there are

         14  many restrictions on this program already, and the

         15  Governor is trying to make it even more restrictive

         16  and more difficult for students to be able to get

         17  through college.

         18                 And then Councilman Barron was

         19  talking about the different income levels, and the

         20  average income level for New Yorkers is $33,000, and

         21  I just want to take a look at a family, a $30,000

         22  family, in average, who what would be the impact on

         23  this family with this double blow to students, the

         24  increase in tuition and cuts to financial aid? It

         25  would be $660 they would have to pay in addition.
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          2  Now, that's a pretty good -- you know, that's a lot

          3  of money, but let's look at on the student from a

          4  $7,000 income, these students currently pay nothing

          5  for tuition. They pay fees and they pay other

          6  expenses, but they pay zero dollars for tuition

          7  because they're covered under financial aid.

          8                 If the Governor's tuition and TAP

          9  proposals go together, go through, they will be

         10  paying $1,467 additional to stay in school for a

         11  year.

         12                 To me that's absolutely outrageous.

         13  These are, you know, the poverty level for the

         14  nation is a little bit above $18,000. These students

         15  are from families well below the poverty level, and

         16  they're being asked to be able to go to a public

         17  college, to pay about $1,500 more a year. To me

         18  that's crazy.

         19                 And then in addition, let's talk

         20  about other financial aid programs. SEEK, college

         21  discovery at CUNY for example. The Governor is

         22  asking from students from these programs to be

         23  reduced by 50 percent. The Governor wants to take

         24  half of these program budgets. These programs serve

         25  26,000 students statewide. They serve the poorer
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          2  students, provide them with financial assistance, as

          3  well as academic support, like tutoring and

          4  counseling.

          5                 In the Governor's proposal, he would

          6  maintain most of the tutoring and counseling, but

          7  he's taking away the money. So students at CUNY who

          8  receive book vouchers, for example, from this

          9  program, not receive the money. So, they're paying

         10  the increased tuition, they're getting one-third

         11  less TAP, and they're also, if they're in this

         12  program, not getting the additional financial aid

         13  assistance they are currently getting from this

         14  program.

         15                 So, it's not very good. The

         16  Governor's proposal is terrible for CUNY students.

         17  And in addition, the Governor is not only raising

         18  tuition and cutting financial aid, but he is taking

         19  funding away from CUNY, he wants to reduce CUNY

         20  senior and community college budgets quite

         21  significantly. So students are going to be paying

         22  more and getting less, and I know that the City

         23  University could probably talk better than I can

         24  about what that actually will mean for students

         25  statewide.
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          2                 So, overall it's a very, very grim

          3  picture for students statewide.

          4                 Obviously this is only the beginning

          5  of the process and today we're here, and other

          6  students and faculty, and the Administration and

          7  staff are here to encourage the Council to pass

          8  Resolution 585, pass it out of the full City

          9  Council, you know, when it gets there and take the

         10  fight to Albany. This is the Governor's proposal.

         11  Let's talk to the Governor. Let's tell the Governor

         12  no. No to tuition hikes. No to cuts to financial

         13  aid. No assault on CUNY. Let's take the fight to the

         14  Governor. Let's organize students and the Council

         15  together, go to Albany and let the Governor know how

         16  we feel when the final budget is negotiated, that

         17  none of these cuts are there.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 MS. HAMMAD: I'm Suzan Hammad from

         20  Hunter College, and the Student Liberation Action

         21  Movement, and CUNY for All Coalition.

         22                 A disclaimer, I am not a professional

         23  public speaker, so I'm a little nervous. If I mess

         24  up, please forgive me.

         25                 I'm the daughter of immigrants who
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          2  have been in this country since the last seventies,

          3  and my parents have five children. Four of us have

          4  either graduated or are in the CUNY system. We would

          5  not have had access to higher education here in New

          6  York had it not been for CUNY.

          7                 I still have not graduated. I'm

          8  planning to register in the fall, the upcoming fall

          9  semester, but when I hear about the tuition hike, I

         10  wonder if I can do that.

         11                 It's going to be really difficult for

         12  me to complete the -- I'm sorry, to complete and get

         13  my degree with this new tuition hike.

         14                 Ever since Pataki has been in office,

         15  he continues to provide tax cuts for the rich, and

         16  he has continuously attacked CUNY.

         17                 What I feel as I've been in the CUNY

         18  system for a number of years now is that the CUNY

         19  system is no longer about providing higher education

         20  to everybody. It's no longer about access to

         21  education for everybody, particularly for the most

         22  disenfranchised.

         23                 Education is no longer our right,

         24  it's becoming a privilege for an exclusive minority.

         25  It's becoming a privilege for rich people. And I
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          2  can't really speak that long, but I also wanted to

          3  call everyone's attention, I'm wearing this orange

          4  ribbon today, and this is against the tuition hikes

          5  and against the war in Iraq, and I wanted people to

          6  know that at Hunter College, the Student Liberation

          7  Action Movement, and we're trying to put this out

          8  for all of CUNY, we see the connections between

          9  what's happening to CUNY and what's happening to all

         10  social services in New York and the 49 other states

         11  with budget deficits, and the fact that we're going

         12  to spend 50 to 200 billion dollars on this war in

         13  Iraq.

         14                 So, I just wanted to show solidarity

         15  with the civilian people in Iraq who face imminent

         16  war, and bombing in their country, and solidarity

         17  with the students of CUNY who have such -- I just

         18  want to let everybody know, we really need to

         19  organize ourselves, we have a huge fight. And if the

         20  last ten years have taught us anything, it's that

         21  they're not going to stop until education is only

         22  for the rich and only for minority.

         23                 So, we really need to organize

         24  ourselves this semester and stop this tuition hike,

         25  and that's all.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS: We'll proceed with the

          3  testimony now from the University Student Senate,

          4  and then the students from Medgar Evers, and then

          5  switch seats around so you can all be up here.

          6                 And then Dennis Sinned. Thank you.

          7  Please proceed.

          8                 MR. HAQUE:  Good afternoon, Mr.

          9  Chairman, honorable members of the City Council,

         10  honorable guests and my fellow students of City

         11  University.

         12                 My name is Shamsul Haque, I'm the

         13  Chairperson of University Student Senate and a

         14  student of Borough College.

         15                 Before I continue, I would like to

         16  thank Higher Education Committee of the City

         17  Council, and especially Chairman Barron for your

         18  support on educational issue.

         19                 This afternoon I rise to speak

         20  against the proposed tuition hike at Borough City

         21  University and State University.

         22                 Our colleges are among the most

         23  expensive in the nation already. We cannot pay

         24  anymore.

         25                 My fellow students do not reach 58
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          2  percent of CUNY students' household income, is less

          3  than $30,000. When we see that 58 percent, it's

          4  about 120,000 or 125,000 students who are making --

          5  whose household income is less than $30,000.

          6                 Now, the question, who come to CUNY?

          7  As many of the speaker have spoken that most of the

          8  students are here who are people of color,

          9  immigrants, minority and working class, and having a

         10  tuition hike at City University, it would be an

         11  attack on working class.

         12                 The students who cannot afford to go

         13  to any other University, this is the only place

         14  where they can come and receive a decent education,

         15  but let's keep this education affordable.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MS. ABRAHAM: Good afternoon,

         18  distinguished members of the City Council, fellow

         19  students of CUNY, ladies and gentlemen.

         20                 My name is Agnes Abraham, and I'm

         21  President of the Student Government at Medgar Evers

         22  College of the City University of New York.

         23                 I chose to go to Medgar Evers College

         24  because I found in CUNY an opportunity not only to

         25  rise above the level I was economically, but to
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          2  advance educationally.

          3                 In 1847, 156 years after the

          4  University was formed, then it was called the "free

          5  academy."

          6                 We are at a point now where we are on

          7  the verge of extinction. Why should we be? There are

          8  bureaucrats that we have voted into office, who have

          9  made the immoral decision to ensure that we do not

         10  advance educationally.

         11                 You've heard from the previous

         12  speakers, and from an eloquent chair of the Higher

         13  Education Committee, the demographics of CUNY.

         14                 I stop to pause and think, is it a

         15  calculated effort to prevent people like me, or

         16  other brown-skinned people, people of broad noses,

         17  from not getting an education? You might say no, but

         18  that's my perception and it's a reality.

         19                 Should we stop now when we are told

         20  that no child should be left behind?

         21                 We are not asking for a handout at

         22  CUNY, we're asking for what our right, a right to an

         23  education that is affordable and accessible.

         24                 Some students in CUNY have the

         25  unfortunate decision of trying to decide should I
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          2  come to school, or should I eat a meal?

          3                 That is a very dismal, very, very

          4  simplistic decision that someone should not make.

          5  When you live in a very rich society, as the United

          6  States of America, we pay taxes, much more than we

          7  would choose to pay. What do we get in return?

          8  Tuition hikes. We do not deserve tuition hikes.

          9                 We want our famous alumni who

         10  graduated from City College to fight the war on

         11  education, like they're fighting the war on Iraq.

         12                 Ask Colin Powell to stop the tuition

         13  hikes. They can do it. Speak to Governor Pataki. He

         14  ran as the education governor, and he should keep

         15  his promise. A promise is of comfort to a fool, and

         16  we are not fools, we're educating aspiring people,

         17  and we need to be heard.

         18                 When the City Council resolution is

         19  passed, unanimously, I dare say, we will show them

         20  that New York City University students are not

         21  joking. We are on the move and we're going to make

         22  them respect us. We are not going to be taken for

         23  granted anymore.

         24                 MS. NOEL: Good afternoon. My name is

         25  Crystal Noel. I am corresponding secretary for
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          2  Medgar Evers College. I want to just tell you my

          3  personal experience in the CUNY system.

          4                 CUNY gave me a chance to play

          5  basketball, track and field, volleyball, also

          6  provided a learning center to help me maintain a 3.6

          7  average, okay? I would not have had this choice if I

          8  didn't come to the CUNY system.

          9                 I think the CUNY students are my

         10  family. My family right now cannot attend this

         11  meeting at 1:00 because they're babysitting, they're

         12  driving a bus, they're driving a train, they're

         13  sweeping somebody's house or washing somebody's

         14  windows, and after they finish work, they come to

         15  class at 6:00, leave class 10:15, go to the library,

         16  which closes by midnight, to study, to start the

         17  same process over the next day.

         18                 If the tuition hikes occur, half of

         19  them will not be able to afford that, and we need to

         20  do something. I'm soft spoken, but in my heart it's

         21  like a salt on a wound, it's hurts.

         22                 I'm not a loud person, but I'm going

         23  to graduate in June. My family is still trying to

         24  get the same opportunity that I had. I have become a

         25  young woman in the CUNY system. I came in a
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          2  teenager, and now I'm coming out a professional

          3  woman that speaks, I'm more calm. I learned about

          4  life and how to live, and when it's my turn to have

          5  a family, I know what I'm going to do.

          6                 So, I'm asking the Council to go to

          7  Governor Pataki, to tell him this is an outrage.

          8                 The CUNY students are our family, no

          9  matter what CUNY school you go to. We have to stick

         10  together, and if we don't, it's going to be trouble.

         11  That's it.

         12                 MR. BYNOE: Good afternoon. My name is

         13  Kevin, and I'm a senior at Medgar Evers College, and

         14  I went to BMCC, when I first entered, I was Vice

         15  President of Student Government.

         16                 BMCC was used as the conduit when the

         17  September 11th tragedy occurred, and everyone

         18  contemplated at the moment, in terms of what's

         19  happening, and BMCC today have not even got the

         20  respect that it did deserve. And I think that we

         21  need to go back and give attention to the college,

         22  because they were used and abused and no one paid

         23  much attention to that after.

         24                 But while I respect the decision of

         25  the Governor, I question the aggressive approach
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          2  taken as a conduit upon which the students become

          3  the target victims to replenish a deficit that is

          4  more than the cost of national product in the

          5  Eastern Caribbean, and in particular Africa. And

          6  this is a fatal blow to many underprivileged

          7  students.

          8                 I came here as an international

          9  student, and my pops, or my father, as I say, died

         10  two years ago, and up until now it's very

         11  detrimental for me.

         12                 I just close having 15 credits to

         13  complete by bachelor's in finance at Medgar Evers

         14  college, and I'm going to tell you this. I have

         15  stayed in the subway just to ask someone to let me

         16  in to get to school. I have walked the street

         17  without a dollar in my pocket. I have survived

         18  without even eating food for a day.

         19                 I recognize where I came from and I'm

         20  very aggressive to grab every opportunity here in

         21  the United States.

         22                 I have given back a lot, and I think

         23  CUNY is a conduit upon which many of us as

         24  underprivileged students have the privilege to have

         25  an opportunity to have an education, and what I
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          2  really want to bring to the table here is that

          3  Governor Pataki need to look back in times and

          4  recognize the zero balance that have caused him an

          5  education, and do not allow us as young people to

          6  become a fatal blow in society.

          7                 And that is why many of us engage in

          8  things that are contrary, because we are not given

          9  the opportunity, and when things do happen we're

         10  questioning what become of our young people, and

         11  that is what I want you to take to Governor Pataki

         12  for me.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You can remain in

         15  your seats in this area, just in case any Council

         16  Members have any questions, please.

         17                 And we are joined also by Council

         18  Member Jim Gennaro.

         19                 Thank you very much, Jim.

         20                 MR. SINNED: Well, I don't know if I

         21  can add to this wonderful testimony, but I'm going

         22  to give it a try.

         23                 I'm just going to read from this

         24  written statement that I prepared on the train ride

         25  over here.
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          2                 I'd like to thank the Higher Ed

          3  Committee and Councilman Barron for continuing to

          4  support us.

          5                 My name is Dennis Sinned, and I'm

          6  nothing more than a mere student at BMCC, who

          7  appears before you today to echo and represent the

          8  tens of thousands of students, their tens of

          9  thousands of parents and guardians and their

         10  millions of peers who are often times dismissed as

         11  mere by the so-called powers that be.

         12                 Miriam and Charlene from NYPIRG did

         13  an excellent job of giving us the number, so I'm

         14  going to comment on another facet of our unified

         15  message, the part that is human and humane.

         16                 This message is directed specifically

         17  to those of you who have had some ambivalence and

         18  doubt about what position to take on the Governor's

         19  budget proposals.

         20                 The memory of the mere is long and

         21  has high fidelity. Anyone who sides with Pataki's

         22  proposal, I pledge and guarantee, we pledge and

         23  guaranteed will succeed in undoing his or her

         24  political career.

         25                 If not his or her intellect and
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          2  conscience, this proposal has been submitted and

          3  propelled by irrational simpletons under the guise

          4  of political solidarity.

          5                 This is an absurd unity that needs

          6  the courage of separation and deconstruction.

          7                 Pataki is once again playing the role

          8  of bumbling surgeon, stitching together gaping

          9  wounds in the budget with cobwebb threads when he

         10  has the steel and the elasticity of the students

         11  that do it for him.

         12                 The old guard will not lead society

         13  out of this darkness. How can they, when they,

         14  themselves, have been struck by the darkness they

         15  have perpetuated. If the lightbulb blows out, you

         16  replace it with a new lightbulb, you don't take the

         17  glass and put an old charred fuse in it, and call it

         18  a lightbulb.

         19                 In a society where innovation is

         20  crucial, not just to the furtherance, but also the

         21  maintenance of that society, to handcuff us, the

         22  bringers of life, the mere student, is more than

         23  stupid, it is a betrayal and an abomination to that

         24  society.

         25                 I'm sorry, I'm just a little angry.
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          2                 Taking education away from the

          3  student is like taking the tools away from the

          4  craftsmen and craftswomen who fashion those

          5  lightbulbs.

          6                 This is fine, if you want to live in

          7  the dark, huddle together in fear and ignorance, but

          8  me, personally? I have always preferred renaissance

          9  to dark age. Likewise, Pataki is using bleakly gray

         10  cobwebb threads to perform this viva section of

         11  society, but he calls them off-white, and I intend

         12  every pun.

         13                 He is playing at semantics to deceive

         14  us all, substituting a three-letter dirty word,

         15  t-a-x, for a politically innocuous phrase "tuition

         16  hike."

         17                 Isn't it interesting that only the

         18  students seem to have the faculty to see through

         19  this transparent duplicity. This tuition hike/tax

         20  cut, is nothing more than a political anagram for

         21  tax hike.

         22                 But the education that the Governor

         23  attempts to stifle, is the one that we will spill

         24  onto the streets, and our slogan will be Pataki is a

         25  liar, and we will chant it like Mantra.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I'd like to

          3  say two things to you: Number one, I'm glad I'm on

          4  your side; and number two, I would hate to give you

          5  a week to prepare a testimony, if you did this on

          6  the train on the way over.

          7                 Any questions?

          8                 Council Member Lopez and Council

          9  Member Brewer have questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have two

         11  issues that I want to address. But before that I

         12  wanted to make a comment, Mr. Chair. It seems to be

         13  that the CUNY system have a criteria in place that

         14  we don't know about accepting students, and it's

         15  that everybody have to be pretty. Because look at

         16  this, everybody is so gorgeous here.

         17                 Then I imagine that that is a little

         18  bit discriminatory.

         19                 MR. SINNED: We're in our Sunday

         20  dress.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then saying

         22  that, I was listening to each one of you very

         23  carefully, and I want to know what is the perception

         24  of the understanding that you have of the budget

         25  process?
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          2                 Because each and every one of you

          3  mentioned Governor Pataki as the sole element

          4  involved in this process, and I want to make sure

          5  that your understanding is different than that.

          6                 Any one can address this. You need to

          7  go to the microphone.

          8                 MS. ABRAHAM: We understand fully that

          9  it has to go through the Council, through Albany,

         10  through the two Chambers in Albany, but ultimately

         11  the Governor has the deciding red ink to put on the

         12  budget and we are not saying by extension, when we

         13  say the Governor, we mean all unsundry who will

         14  participate in the process. Because the Governor was

         15  the one who spoke to us, he was the one for voting

         16  as the Governor (sic), he is like telling your

         17  mother you have a boo-boo and your daddy can't deal

         18  with it. So, we have a boo-boo and the Governor must

         19  deal with it.

         20                 MR. SINNED: The Governor is the

         21  boo-boo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Therefore, the

         23  reason I ask you the question is because I want to

         24  call the attention to each and every one of you,

         25  then when you start fighting for this process, it's
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          2  very important to bring to the table all of them,

          3  both parties, because this decision is not just made

          4  by a person who is the Governor, it's many Assembly

          5  people, many senators, who are going to participate

          6  in this process, and it's important to make that

          7  clear in the process to come.

          8                 MR. HAQUE:  That is the bureaucracy

          9  that exists that makes it pretty much complex.

         10                 President Bush, the Administration is

         11  not being blamed for a decision, and everybody is

         12  going to say President Bush, now if America attacks

         13  Iraq they're going to say President Bush, so the

         14  ultimate thing here is that Pataki is at the helm of

         15  decision-making. He makes the final say as spoken by

         16  my distinguished president. And, so, if we are to

         17  speak to him and listen to us, there's ways and

         18  means that he can come back to those same parties

         19  and understand them, because people often run when

         20  they make decision and you can't find them, and

         21  that's the problem we have here.

         22                 MR. BYNOE: Well, I would kindly beg

         23  to differ with my peer. I believe in winter before

         24  summer, and I say we would have the final say, not

         25  Governor Pataki, and that's why I was saying, that

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  why we were saying earlier as we were testifying

          3  anyone who has any doubt and ambivalence about

          4  whether or not they should side or go against his

          5  proposal, we're watching.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. And the

          7  second question I want to know is, how many of you

          8  will have to stop your education, if this tuition

          9  hike will go through? How many of you?

         10                 I'm saying, let's say that this

         11  proposal go through, and it's approved by the

         12  Assembly and by the Senate, if that will happen, I

         13  want to know by a show of hands how many of you

         14  right now under the economic situation that you are,

         15  whatever it is, will not be able to register to

         16  continue your education?

         17                 MR. BYNOE: All of us.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Almost

         19  everybody.

         20                 Then indeed this proposal will

         21  disseminate the population that go to get that

         22  education in CUNY, correct? Yes.

         23                 MS. NOEL: They're not here, but the

         24  Medgar Evers Soccer Team, they won the championship

         25  for CUNY, the CUNY schools, and nationals.
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          2                 The whole team, I'll say about 80

          3  percent, are immigrants. Their tuition has already

          4  doubled. And we went to a game yesterday at York

          5  College, and they said that if the tuition

          6  increased, they're not going to be able to come to

          7  school next year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You will lose

          9  right there, the team.

         10                 MS. NOEL: We'll lose our team. And

         11  athletes, we really have trouble.

         12                 I played three sports. I had to work

         13  as a tutor, teacher assistant, and also study to

         14  keep my GP up so I could play, and if the tuition

         15  goes up, how can I balance my tuition with the

         16  income I'm making and trying to work? You can't work

         17  that much when you're trying to improve your

         18  knowledge.

         19                 I mean, I made a sacrifice that I'm

         20  living by means. I wear the same shoe, I wear one

         21  boot for the whole entire -- one shoe like each

         22  term, and it might get weared out, but I do that

         23  sacrifice so I have time to study, to learn the

         24  material needed and also play sports.

         25                 I think everybody has a chance to
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          2  better themselves and to play sports, as they do in

          3  D1 and D2.

          4                 I know for a fact the soccer team

          5  will not --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: They will not

          7  --

          8                 MS. NOEL: They will not be there next

          9  year, if this tuition -- they will not be able to

         10  pay. They will be paying $6,000.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes?

         12                 MS. ABRAHAM: Also, there is a segment

         13  in CUNY that enabled undocumented aliens.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: They come from

         15  Mars.

         16                 MS. ABRAHAM: You know, the faceless,

         17  nameless people that didn't come on the Mayflower.

         18  So, they're there in CUNY, and they will also suffer

         19  because they are not documented. So, although they

         20  are given a waiver, sort of a grandfather to pay

         21  resident's fee, there's a shyness that was coming

         22  forward because we know the aggressiveness of which

         23  the, you know, things are done in this country, and

         24  you have to be very tactful in doing things.

         25                 So that segment of our student
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          2  population would be targeted as well and suffer.

          3                 In CUNY there's approximately 403,000

          4  students and 300,000 about that are voters. So,

          5  politicians take note. Understand what you guys are

          6  doing. Understand that we have the power to

          7  dismantle you at the polls, and we will. 585 must be

          8  passed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

         10  the answer. I just want to make a comment to you.

         11  Being soft spoken never have not allowed a fight to

         12  be won by that one who is softspoken. You can set

         13  the world on fire with soft spoken words.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         15                 And I want to just urge you, please.

         16  We have a lot of testimony, so we've got to make the

         17  questions short and the responses short, because we

         18  have a lot of testimony.

         19                 Council Member Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'll be quick.

         21                 For Miriam Kramer and also for the

         22  softspoken wonderful athlete, I have two questions.

         23                 Miriam, I was just wondering, I know

         24  you talked about the impacts, which was very well

         25  stated, along with your colleague Charlene Piper,
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          2  but I was just wondering if you could sort of

          3  describe the typical student challenges, because I

          4  know from my experience with my kids, and young

          5  people I know, that many people don't get through

          6  five years.

          7                 I think the public doesn't understand

          8  that tuition is not paid for mostly with financial

          9  aid. It's only the four-year student who really has

         10  has a household income that's very low, they can do

         11  this, and then you don't have the book money, you

         12  don't have the extracurricular dollars, and my

         13  experience from this past year is that the financial

         14  aid comes in late, and, so, you are always

         15  struggling to keep up with the cash flow.

         16                 So there are so many levels on which

         17  this tuition increase would hurt, not to mention I

         18  do think that to the credit of Speaker Silver, we

         19  will organize, we will be a presence in Albany, but

         20  the Governor will never get away with the decrease

         21  in TAP. That doesn't mean that there aren't

         22  challenges, we have to fight them, but that's one

         23  that I think every year is proposed, and every year

         24  we're all successful at keeping it at bay. That

         25  doesn't mean we don't fight.
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          2                 So, I was just wondering, between the

          3  SEEK and the possible TAP challenges and the

          4  horrendous proposal, if you could just describe what

          5  the immigrant student is one that I'm familiar with,

          6  somebody who doesn't have papers, therefore cannot

          7  get financial aid. That is a huge challenge for that

          8  household. Are there other examples like that?

          9                 MS. KRAMER: Well, I would like to

         10  deter to the students, because each one, I'm sure

         11  has their story to tell about how difficult it is to

         12  pay. But just sort of standardwise, only students,

         13  even currently that there's no cuts to the TAP,

         14  people can receive $500 if you're from a family up

         15  to $80,000, and $5,000 or full tuition at CUNY, if

         16  you're from the lowest-income bracket. But the

         17  lowest-income bracket cuts off at $7,000.

         18                 I was just doing a little research

         19  and I was quite surprised to find that if you're

         20  from a family that makes $7,001, you're not getting

         21  your full tuition covered currently under the TAP

         22  proposal, it doesn't take into account the

         23  Governor's idea to defer one-third of the payments

         24  or cut, as I like to say, one-third of the payments.

         25                 And then, again, that's if you're,
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          2  you know, Joe student at CUNY, it doesn't take into

          3  account if you can't maintain a C average after two

          4  semesters, in many cases if you're part time, if you

          5  had remediation and you're at a Community College,

          6  and you transferred and not all your credits

          7  transferred, so you ended up, you know, you need

          8  more, most CUNY students need more than a few years

          9  to graduate, and your TAP maxes out after that

         10  amount of time.

         11                 So, there are many cases where the

         12  current program isn't substantial enough. And then

         13  the Governor is trying to make it even more

         14  difficult.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         16  you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We want to thank

         18  you very much for your testimony. Give yourselves a

         19  big, big hand-clap. You did a very good job. Thank

         20  you very much.

         21                 Just so that you can get a sense of

         22  how we're going to proceed, we have the legislative

         23  clerk here, we're going to take our vote now. After

         24  the vote we have the Public Advocate here, Ms. Betsy

         25  Gotbaum, have her testify. We'll get a panel of CUNY
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          2  faculty and the Administration and back to more

          3  students.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Resolution No. 585.

          5  Urging the City and State to continue funding the

          6  City University of New York at current levels so as

          7  to avoid tuition increases.

          8                 Cuts to important financial aid

          9  programs, such as TAP, SEEK, and College Discovery

         10  Programs and the Peter F. Vallone, Academic

         11  Scholarship Program. And thus avoid unjustly

         12  balancing the City and State budgets on the back of

         13  college students and their families, and calling

         14  upon the Mayor of New York City, the Governor of New

         15  York State, and New York State Legislature, to

         16  increase financial support for higher education,

         17  hold the line on tuition increases, and ensure the

         18  future of the CUNY Senior and Community Colleges and

         19  education institutions that provide a crucial and

         20  viable economic workforce and tax base for the City

         21  and State.

         22                 Council Member Barron.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lopez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Permission to
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          2  explain my vote, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 I just want to indicate that it is

          4  incomprehensible for me why the Governor have

          5  proposed such a budget in regard to CUNY,

          6  particularly any Governor who would like to have a

          7  recovery of the economy of this State must invest in

          8  education to prepare the workforce for the future

          9  ahead. And what the Governor is doing with this

         10  proposal is destroying that workforce to have the

         11  capacity to confront the new technology that is in

         12  place, and for that reason, without no hesitation, I

         13  vote aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: May I be

         16  excused to explain my vote? As I shared at the press

         17  conference, I believe it's hypocritical of the

         18  Governor to say that he's not going to raise taxes

         19  in order to prevent the creation of jobs. Yet, at

         20  the same time intends on raising tuition for

         21  students 41 percent, which is in effect a tax

         22  increase. And if it looks like a duck and it quacks

         23  like a duck, then you know it's a tax, no matter

         24  what they call it.

         25                 And, so, with that in mind, I vote
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          2  against the tax increase for the students of City

          3  University. Thank you very much. I vote aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye. I

          6  would like to have my name added to the resolution,

          7  and want to add that I think that following up what

          8  Council Member Perkins, at this particular

          9  suggestion of not being a taxing Governor is the

         10  perfect example. Here is a taxing Governor, not only

         11  to CUNY but to items like buying clothing under

         12  $500, which is an issue mostly for New Yorkers,

         13  people who have a lot of money do not participate in

         14  that, and would happily shop elsewhere, so I want to

         15  add that CUNY is probably the greatest University

         16  system in the world, we want to keep it that way.

         17                 I vote aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Mr. Chairman,

         20  I wish to have the opportunity to speak on my vote.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay, thank

         23  you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 I want to thank you very much for

         25  your leadership on this issue, and all of the great

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  things that you've done for CUNY. I'm proud to be on

          3  your Committee and to speak out in favor of this

          4  very important resolution, which I was happy to be a

          5  co-prime sponsor of.

          6                 Yes, I am a Council Member. As I said

          7  before in the press conference, I'm a Council

          8  member, a member of this Committee, member of the

          9  PSC, but I also come before you as someone who has

         10  taught many hundreds of students at CUNY, at Queens

         11  College. I was in class last night, as I mentioned

         12  earlier, we've never really had an opportunity to

         13  get the subject at hand in the classroom, because

         14  the students I teach were greatly concerned about

         15  how they were going to continue with their

         16  education. And they look to me as, not as their

         17  Professor, but as someone who is a public official,

         18  someone who is a member of this Committee, someone

         19  who has an obligation to speak out on their behalf.

         20  And we had a very frank discussion on what it was

         21  going to mean for them and their families and their

         22  children and their parents, for them to shoulder the

         23  burden of this tax increase and wanted me to come

         24  here today with a special message from them to

         25  indicate in the strongest terms that this will be a
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          2  great care in the City's social fabric, if we allow

          3  this tax increase to go through.

          4                 So, Mr. Chairman, I stand with you,

          5  and the members of this Committee, I stand with you,

          6  all the people who are here today, the great

          7  educators who are trying to do all the best for the

          8  students, and, of course, most importantly for the

          9  students themselves.

         10                 And, so, I proudly vote yes. And I

         11  like every day, even though I am a teacher, I like

         12  every day to have -- I like to learn something new

         13  every day, and of the previous witness, I have a

         14  question for him on what the word anagram means, and

         15  if he can come forward and give me a definition on

         16  that word, and give me a bigger vocabulary and make

         17  me a better teacher, I'd greatly appreciate it.

         18                 Thank you very much. I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         20  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         21  abstentions, Resolution 585 is adopted.

         22                 Council Members, please sign the

         23  Committee report. Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Chairman? I

         25  just wanted to ask permission to be added as a prime
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          2  sponsor of this resolution.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

          6                 I want to thank my colleagues very,

          7  very much. Just to let you know the order of how

          8  things are going to go, everybody has pressing

          9  schedules. We promised the Public Advocate, as soon

         10  as she came, we would give her an opportunity to

         11  testify. Then as the grids builder (sic) that I've

         12  always been all my life, since the Administration

         13  and faculty have urgent appointments they're going

         14  to present together. So, we'll bring the faculty and

         15  Administration together to present, and right now

         16  we'll hear from Ms. Betsy Gotbaum, the Public

         17  Advocate.

         18                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Thank you.

         19                 Thank you, and good afternoon, Mr.

         20  Chairman, and my colleagues from City Council.

         21  Usually I sit up there, by the way, and beat the

         22  gavel so they don't speak too long.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Since you've

         24  always been generous with your time for me, I'm

         25  being generous with you today.
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          2                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: I'm very

          3  proud to be able to come here this afternoon, and I

          4  want to sign on as a co-sponsor to this legislation.

          5  I believe that we have a specific duty to our kids

          6  to teach them the skill that they need for the jobs

          7  of the 21st century. That's why I'm concerned about

          8  Governor Pataki's attempt to balance the budget on

          9  the backs of the students.

         10                 I urge the City and the State to

         11  continue the current funding level at the City

         12  University in order to prevent tuition increases and

         13  cuts to financial aid.

         14                 CUNY is the largest urban university

         15  in the United States, with almost 400,000 students.

         16  CUNY has provided New Yorkers from all walks of life

         17  access to affordable higher education and enable

         18  them to move up the socioeconomic ladder; what could

         19  be more important in our society?

         20                 Among it's graduates, CUNY count

         21  Secretary of State Colon Powell, Jerry Seinfeld, and

         22  several nobel laureates.

         23                 CUNY continues to offer outstanding

         24  programs for its diverse student population,

         25  contributing highly skilled graduates to the City's
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          2  workforce. We must not let this stop.

          3                 Unfortunately, it's getting harder

          4  for students to afford CUNY.

          5                 New York State has the 14th most

          6  expensive public university system of any state, and

          7  the fifth most expensive community colleges.

          8                 Last year the National Center for

          9  Public Policy and Higher Education gave New York and

         10  F for affordability, down from the D we received in

         11  2000.

         12                 Governor Pataki's budget proposals

         13  call for tuition increases at CUNY and reductions in

         14  State aid to schools and their students.

         15                 Increasing CUNY's tuition rates could

         16  force many of our students to drop out.

         17                 In 1995, the last time tuition rates

         18  rose, 330,000 kids dropped out, or enrollment fell

         19  by 30,000. A loss in enrollment not only hurts these

         20  kids but deprives New York of an educated workforce

         21  that we so desperately need.

         22                 The Governor is also proposing to cut

         23  the Tuition Assistance Program, TAP. The so-called

         24  restructuring plan was roundly criticized last year

         25  as a disincentive for poor and immigrant population.
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          2                 We must oppose it again this year.

          3                 As I said earlier at the press

          4  conference, Governor Pataki deserves an F for his

          5  attack on higher education and our students, the

          6  next generation of New Yorkers, of working New

          7  Yorkers.

          8                 Higher Education will prepare our

          9  kids for the jobs they need, and the way to rebuild

         10  our economy.

         11                 I'll fight side-by-side with all the

         12  students, all my colleagues in the City Council and

         13  Assembly and the Senate, go to Albany and do

         14  whatever is needed of us to demand that we not

         15  increase tuition and lower financial aid.

         16                 Thank you very much for this

         17  opportunity. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I thank you,

         19  Madam Public Advocate.

         20                 Thank you very much' for your

         21  testimony.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next panel will be

         23  Vice Chancellor Otis Hill, Vice Chancellor Ernesto

         24  Malave, on behalf of CUNY, and Professor Barbara

         25  Bowen, and Professor John Hyland, on behalf of the
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          2  Professional Staff Congress of CUNY.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 Please raise your right hand.

          5                 Do you swear that the testimony

          6  you're about to provide before this Committee is the

          7  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

          8  questions truthfully?

          9                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: I do.

         10                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I do.

         11                 PROFESSOR BOWEN: I do.

         12                 PROFESSOR HYLAND: I do.

         13                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay. Please state your

         14  name, position, for the record, before you begin

         15  your testimony.

         16                 We'll start with Vice Chancellor

         17  Malave.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Good

         20  afternoon. My name is Ernesto Malave. I'm the City

         21  University's Vice Chancellor for Budget and Finance.

         22                 Good afternoon, Chairman Barron,

         23  Council members, staff and guests. I thank you for

         24  the opportunity to testify.

         25                 I appreciate the opportunity to speak
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          2  to you about the role of tuition in CUNY and in the

          3  context of the overall funding of the University.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excuse me. Just

          5  in the interest of time and the length.

          6                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Could we have the

          8  more lengthy testimonies a more of a summary? Can

          9  you give some kind of a summary?

         10                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Sure, I'll

         11  fly through the testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Instead of

         13  verbatim.

         14                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Very quickly.

         15  It's not very long.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I don't mean to

         17  interrupt you. I just want to get as many testimony

         18  in as possible.

         19                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: It's quite

         20  all right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         22                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Before I

         23  review the history of tuition, permit me to

         24  summarize for you the City's financial plan and

         25  preliminary budget and the State's Executive Budget
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          2  recommendation.

          3                 I have included a more detailed

          4  presentation, the packet of materials you have

          5  before you.

          6                 The budget was released just two days

          7  ago, and we are continuing to analyze the budget and

          8  the accompanying program bills, and to assess the

          9  impact on the University.

         10                 Next week we will brief the college

         11  presidents and the Board of Trustees, and on

         12  February 11th, Chancellor Goldstein will testify

         13  before the Assembly Ways and Means and Senate

         14  Finance Committees to offer a complete assessment of

         15  the Executive Budget and spell out the University's

         16  legislative priorities.

         17                 The New York City Executive Budget.

         18                 In FY 2004, the Executive Budget

         19  recommends a funding level of $1.1 billion and an

         20  increase in the appropriation of $31.1 million. And

         21  the increase reflects funding, increases on the

         22  revenue tuition budget of $112.8 million, and a

         23  decrease in State aid of $81.7 million. It's a 12

         24  percent reduction in State aid, and a nearly 30

         25  percent reduction in tuition revenue.
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          2                 The Executive Budget also recommends

          3  amending the Education law to permit the University

          4  to set differential rates for tuition for graduate

          5  and professional programs, and the budget also

          6  provides CUNY with the ability to adopt tuition

          7  policies that permit annual incremental adjustments

          8  of tuition.

          9                 For the community colleges. The

         10  budget recommends an overall reduction of $23.3

         11  million. This reduction includes 14 and a half

         12  million dollars, related to a $345 decrease in

         13  funding per FTE, and a $7.3 million reduction

         14  related to enrollment adjustment.

         15                 I want to clarify something for the

         16  Committee. It appears that the State Budget Division

         17  was using inaccurate estimates of enrollment when

         18  they prepared their budget, and during the 30-day

         19  amendment would likely be making an adjustment

         20  upwards, and so we expect the reduction to be

         21  reduced. That's the good news.

         22                 The budget also recommends a

         23  reduction in funding for workforce development

         24  programs, building rentals and a 50 percent

         25  reduction in the college discovery and similar to
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          2  what the Governor recommends to what the Governor

          3  recommends for the senior college SEEK program and

          4  the elimination of the financial aid component of

          5  the SEEK program.

          6                 We are pleased to report that child

          7  care funding, however it has not been reduced in the

          8  Executive Budget and it continues at the current

          9  year's levels. And perhaps more importantly, the

         10  maintenance of effort provision that holds the City

         11  of New York's funding levels in the prior year

         12  continue to be maintained in the Executive Budget,

         13  and that will lead to a great deal of civility in

         14  the community college budget next year.

         15                 Very quickly, it's not in my

         16  testimony, but on the capital side, the Governor is

         17  proposing a $1.2 billion increase in the

         18  University's capital program, and multi-year capital

         19  program, and the big highlights of that budget is

         20  funding for Medgar Evers College. As you know, the

         21  Governor and the Chancellor announced last several

         22  months ago, the funding of Medgar Evers for the new

         23  campus, and also includes funding for the new campus

         24  buildings at New York City Technical College.

         25                 The Executive Budget in the area of

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  Financial Aid, as you already heard, recommends

          3  restructuring of financial aid in that they provide

          4  for the TAP award to be divided into two areas, and

          5  two thirds of the award be provided right away,

          6  one-third of it be deferred until the student

          7  graduates and they would be setting up a loan

          8  program to enable students who would otherwise not

          9  be eligible for federal loans qualify for state TAP

         10  loans to meet the difference.

         11                 This is a proposal, if you recall

         12  last year, that the Governor had initiated in the

         13  Executive Budget and then was ultimately rejected by

         14  the Legislature.

         15                 The City of New York's Preliminary

         16  Budget is a good one for the community colleges.

         17  There was only some very minor adjustments. In fact,

         18  the Mayor recommended an increase in the community

         19  college budget in the current year, and that

         20  increase flatlined into next year, so we have a very

         21  straight-lined budget. We obviously have some

         22  mandatory cost increases that we'll have to absorb,

         23  but there were reductions in the community college

         24  budget.

         25                 However, the Mayor did recommend in
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          2  the preliminary budget the elimination of the

          3  Vallone Scholarship Program. As you know, Chairman

          4  Barron, the City Council Committee has championed

          5  that program, and a $5.5 million reduction to that

          6  program in the midst of financial aid cuts is

          7  something we're very concerned about.

          8                 But we also recognize that the Mayor

          9  still has until April and May to actually propose

         10  the Executive budget, and we hope that he'll take

         11  that into account.

         12                 Let me just talk very quickly about

         13  the history of tuition at CUNY. Unlike most college

         14  universities, CUNY -- in the United States, CUNY has

         15  a relatively short history on tuition.

         16                 The tuition story at CUNY will

         17  forever be connected with that momentous period in

         18  New York City's history, the fiscal crisis of the

         19  mid-1970s, the time when the City of New York nearly

         20  went bankrupt. The creation of a tuition charge at

         21  CUNY was a direct result of the budget turmoil of

         22  that period.

         23                 During this period, the City of New

         24  York was responsible for the governance of the

         25  University and financed most of its obligations.
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          2                 The City's fiscal crisis forced the

          3  City to impose massive budget cuts that eventually

          4  forced CUNY to lay off thousands of employees,

          5  full-time employees, and shut down the University

          6  for a two-week period because we were unable to meet

          7  our payroll. It was a tumultuous period.

          8                 Those who lived through it will

          9  probably suggest that even those words are a severe

         10  understatement.

         11                 In any event, the fiscal crisis set

         12  the stage for tuition.

         13                 As the following chart shows, in

         14  1976, the first year of tuition, the charge for a

         15  community college student with $387.50 per semester

         16  was 775 on an annualized basis.

         17                 For the senior college the annual

         18  rate was $925. In 1979/'80, the rates for the

         19  community colleges were raised to the senior college

         20  level of 925, where it remained until 1982/'83 when

         21  it was raised by $150.

         22                 A year later the rates were raised

         23  another $150 to $1,225. The tuition rate remained

         24  unchanged for seven years until 1991 when they began

         25  a series of increases that culminated with the last
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          2  increase of 1995/'96.

          3                 In 1990 there was a modest increase

          4  of $125, a year later the tuition climbed by $500

          5  for the seniors and 400 at the community colleges.

          6                 This was a year that there was a

          7  divergence in the rates that began between senior

          8  and community colleges.

          9                 A year later, in 1992/'93, the senior

         10  college rates jumped another $600 and the community

         11  colleges, $350.

         12                 Three years later the senior rate was

         13  raised by $750 to the current level of $3,200, and

         14  the community colleges rose $400 to the current rate

         15  of $2,500, and tuition at CUNY has not risen since

         16  1995,'96.

         17                 There is a clear pattern that emerges

         18  from the close examination of CUNY's tuition

         19  history. The rate increases closely parallel

         20  national or local periods of economic recessions or

         21  budget crises.

         22                 It was during the period of economic

         23  growth in the mid-nineties or the late eighties when

         24  there was not change.

         25                 The early nineties was a particularly
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          2  volatile period following the stock market collapse

          3  of the late 1980s.

          4                 The other pattern that is evident are

          5  the dramatic spike in tuition rate increases,

          6  especially increases in the 1990s. They have always

          7  been large and always unpredictable.

          8                 This has given rise to the current

          9  debate about whether the state should develop a more

         10  rational approach to financing higher education that

         11  would peg the tuition and the public support to an

         12  index such as a higher education price index.

         13                 Indexing can provide a rational base

         14  for tuition policy making.

         15                 It also can provide a basis for

         16  identifying necessary levels of state support to

         17  ensure that institutions could meet the cost of

         18  living increases without diminishing services to

         19  students.

         20                 In doing so, indexing insures budget

         21  stability, allowing institutions to strategically

         22  plan and enhance operations while keeping their

         23  pricing structures predictable for students and

         24  their families.

         25                 More importantly, the indexing of
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          2  tuition and State support can be a better approach

          3  to higher education pricing than the current

          4  turbulent practice of increasing tuition 20 to 40

          5  percent whenever there is a downturn in the economy.

          6                 Just a couple of more points, Mr.

          7  Chairman. Tuition and enrollment. Often in the

          8  debate on tuition there is a suggestion that tuition

          9  increases always lead to enrollment losses.

         10                 In fact, there are many variables

         11  that govern enrollment from the quality and

         12  availability of program offerings to the general

         13  state of the economy to the availability of student

         14  financial aid.

         15                 In the following chart you will see

         16  how in the early 1990s there was a surge in

         17  enrollment that coincided with three successive

         18  increases in tuition. In 1995, there was a drop-off

         19  after a tuition increase.

         20                 That may have been the result of

         21  tuition increases coupled with simultaneous cuts in

         22  financial aid.

         23                 It is one reason why the City

         24  University is very concerned about the financial aid

         25  funding. It is critical that adequate support be
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          2  preserved so that access to higher education is made

          3  available to all New Yorkers who aspire to achieve

          4  higher levels of learning.

          5                 When assessing the effects of tuition

          6  on New Yorkers, it's also instructive to view the

          7  pricing structure of the other colleges and

          8  universities in New York, as well as how we compare

          9  with our sister public institution. And you have a

         10  couple of charts before you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 On page eight I'll just simply point

         12  out the history of tuition as it relates to the

         13  overall funding of CUNY.

         14                 In 1991, 1994, '95, tuition

         15  represented 31.7 percent of the budget. It rolls to

         16  42.8 in '95, '96. It declined 35 percent last year,

         17  and if this proposal for a tuition increase would go

         18  forward, it would rise to 45 percent.

         19                 And then, finally, Mr. Chairman, and

         20  I won't go through it because I think the story is

         21  well documented.

         22                 On the last page, you'll see that

         23  over the last 12 years, while the university has

         24  gained 28 increase in their budget, after you

         25  account for inflation, during that period we have
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          2  actually lost almost 15 percent of the funding,

          3  including tuition funding at the City University of

          4  New York.

          5                 And most of the gains have been made

          6  over the past 12 years have been made with increases

          7  in tuition revenue and losses after inflation of

          8  over $300 million in public support.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

         11  you very much for your testimony, and say that I'll

         12  probably have 1,001 questions for you. I'll do that

         13  with the Chancellor himself over this testimony.

         14                 I certainly don't support the fact

         15  that the tuition increase did not impact or is not

         16  the factor for a student reduction in enrollment. I

         17  don't support that at all, and I'm sure that there

         18  are other factors.

         19                 I think it's important for the

         20  Administration, and I know you're in a precarious

         21  situation, but to be on the side of students. I

         22  think it's critical for that to happen. And I know

         23  it's a tough balancing act, juggling act, but you

         24  have to become -- what do they call these people, a

         25  serious juggler.
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          2                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I'm a

          3  budget guy. I know what that means.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I know you know

          5  what it means. But I think it's really a very, very

          6  serious issue, and I know sometimes we've got to get

          7  out of our role, and support what is really right,

          8  and I'm just hoping that the Chancellor and

          9  Administration can be on the side of the faculty and

         10  the students and do everything in your power,

         11  everything in your influence, to ensure that the

         12  answer to this economic crises is not tuition

         13  increase, no matter how much we crunch numbers. And

         14  I'm certain you will do that, because I'm certain

         15  that you are in favor of students and I'm certain

         16  that that's going to happen after we go through all

         17  of this.

         18                 Thank you very much for your

         19  testimony.

         20                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Thank

         21  you.

         22                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Good afternoon,

         23  Chairman Barron and members of the City Council

         24  Higher Education Committee. My name is Otis Hill,

         25  Vice Chancellor for Student Development and
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          2  Enrollment Management at City University of New

          3  York.

          4                 The challenging budget times faced by

          5  the State and the City have resulted in proposals to

          6  reduce student aid funding for the Tuition

          7  Assistance Program at the state level and the Peter

          8  F. Vallone Academic Scholarship Program at the City

          9  level.

         10                 The proposal introduced in the 2003,

         11  2004 New York State Executive Budget is to change

         12  TAP to provide a base award equal to two thirds of

         13  the regular award to the student during the term of

         14  attendance.

         15                 This program structure is a

         16  significant deterrent for enrollment to 70,000

         17  students of CUNY. We anticipate that 24,000 students

         18  at the community college, if this goes through, will

         19  have $12.3 million of TAP awards deferred, and

         20  similarly 46,000 students at the senior college will

         21  have $32 million of awards deferred.

         22                 Of the affected students, we estimate

         23  that 78 percent are from non-white, ethnic, or

         24  racial groups. The budget asserts the TAP funds

         25  invested in students are lost if degree completion
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          2  is not attained.

          3                 I have a Census Bureau Report and I

          4  quote, "The Big Payoff:  Educational Attainment and

          5  Synthetic Estimates of Work-Life Earnings" indicates

          6  that there is a significant difference in income for

          7  people who have attended college, and an even more

          8  significance for people who have completed portions

          9  of the college. Over a lifetime, the difference

         10  between some collegiate attendance and no attendance

         11  is approximately $230,000, and for completion of a

         12  bachelor's degree, the difference is about $800,000.

         13                 These differences in lifetime income

         14  provide a significant revenue stream through local,

         15  state and federal governments in the form of income

         16  tax, Social Security tax and sales tax revenue.

         17                 The proposal primarily affects

         18  students from low-income families, since these

         19  students qualify for larger awards. Thus, the burden

         20  of increased student loan debt falls

         21  disproportionately on these students.

         22                 As an example, a student who has to

         23  borrow $10,000 for student loans with an interest

         24  rate of six percent, has a repayment of $111 per

         25  month for the life of the loan, compared to a
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          2  non-borrower. This student, therefore has that much

          3  less discretionary income to work with.

          4                 The Preliminary Financial Plan for FY

          5  '04 for New York City, does not provide funding for

          6  the Peter F. Vallone Academic Scholarship Program.

          7                 This year the scholarship provided an

          8  award of $1,000 per year, for more than 8,000

          9  students who graduated from a high school in New

         10  York City with at least a B average, and earned at

         11  least 12 college prep initiative units and attended

         12  a CUNY college as their first college of attendance.

         13                 This has been an extremely successful

         14  program for students of CUNY, and Mr. Chairman, we

         15  thank you and other members of the City Council for

         16  working hard to retain funding for that program.

         17                 And, finally, in summary of my

         18  comments, let me just say that February is Financial

         19  Aid Awareness Month in New York State.

         20                 The University is utilizing this

         21  designation to maximize the awareness of current and

         22  prospective students to the full array of City,

         23  State, federal and private financial assistance and

         24  scholarships.

         25                 CUNY will offering a series of

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  financial aid seminars in each of the five boroughs

          3  during that time period.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much for your testimony. Just very, very briefly, I

          7  wanted to say that we did pretty good with CUNY in

          8  2003. There were no cuts. As a matter of fact there

          9  was an increase, and that's a miraculous

         10  achievement. Thank you very much.

         11                 And plus, I didn't do this by myself.

         12  We had plenty, plenty support, and every time budget

         13  time comes around, they've taken this Peter Vallone

         14  scholarships, and we're not letting them take it

         15  this time, just like we didn't let them take it last

         16  time. So, we are going to fight very, very hard for

         17  that.

         18                 I just want to know in general from

         19  the Administration, if the Chancellor spoke to you,

         20  I know we had some conversation on it; what is your

         21  fundamental tuition on tuition increase?

         22                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I

         23  think the Chancellor made it clear that we want the

         24  lowest possible rate of tuition at the City

         25  University of New York, and we also, however, need
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          2  to preserve the City of New York, and so the lowest

          3  possible tuition is the tuition that we -- position

          4  that we support.

          5                 We are facing very difficult

          6  circumstances, and as you know, Chairman Barron,

          7  it's the beginning of a process, and we're going to

          8  be working closely with the Legislature to assure

          9  that at the end of the day we have an affordable

         10  university that's a high quality university.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: It is my

         12  tradition, and love everybody, but I definitely --

         13  lowest possible tuition. Lowest possible tuition,

         14  most possible, affordable -- you know I'm not going

         15  to let you get away with language like that. So, I

         16  just want to be a little clearer, a little clearer

         17  -- this is what happens when the boss sends you

         18  out. You should have made him come. Just a little

         19  clearer on whether or not you foresee supporting or

         20  not supporting a tuition increase?

         21                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I

         22  don't think the question is whether or not the

         23  University supports a tuition increase. The

         24  University would love nothing more than to have its

         25  budget request considered, which did not contemplate
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          2  any tuition increase.

          3                 The Governor has issued the Executive

          4  Budget. It is now in the hands of the Legislature.

          5  We want to maintain our current level, but at the

          6  same time, we have to make sure that we maintain

          7  this university, and we will be confronted with

          8  options at the end of the day, after deliberations,

          9  as to whether or not the University wishes to fire

         10  thousands of individual employees, or not, given the

         11  pricing structure.

         12                 As you know, Chairman, it is the

         13  political process in Albany that sets the overall

         14  budget parameters of the University.

         15                 We have a tremendous tradition of

         16  either free tuition or low-cost tuition at this

         17  University. We want that preserved; however, we have

         18  to insist and ensure that we maintain a university

         19  that is worthy for the people of the City of New

         20  York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: One of the things

         22  I would recommend to you, it's the same thing they

         23  do to us in the City, they say either you give us

         24  the Peter Vallone Scholarship money, or we're going

         25  to have to cut senior citizen centers. And we
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          2  responded by saying no to both, and figuring out a

          3  way.

          4                 Is there a way that you could respond

          5  to the Governor fiscally, ensuring the Governor that

          6  there is ways of doing this budget without an

          7  increase, and there are plenty who have supported

          8  other measures that the Governor could take.

          9                 Would you be on board with those

         10  measures to avoid a tuition increase at all costs?

         11                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: As I

         12  said earlier, we will be briefing and the trustees

         13  next week.

         14                 Chancellor Goldstein will testify on

         15  February the 11th. We're still unraveling the

         16  budget, at that time the Chancellor will lay out the

         17  University's posture on the legislative priorities

         18  for the University and the appropriate tuition

         19  level, if, in fact, there needs to be one.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Let me ask you

         21  this: Would the Administration, and some of us are

         22  going to be responding by saying a personal income

         23  tax for those who make 250,000 or more, is one way

         24  that we can use those funds.

         25                 Is that any of you, just in case? Oh,
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          2  okay, just wanted to make sure.

          3                 MS. BOWEN: Not me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just wanted to

          5  check before I went any further.

          6                 A personal income tax of 250,000 or

          7  more could be recommended to the Governor. A

          8  commuter tax that could give us 500 million could be

          9  recommended to the Governor. A stock transfer tax.

         10  Do you have a lot of stock, anybody?

         11                 And I'm not talking a little bit of

         12  stock that you put in your portfolios, and make you

         13  feel like we are business people, but I mean serious

         14  stock trading, that can get us to the 6 billion.

         15  What about some proposals like that? Would you

         16  support those absentee landlord tax, instead of like

         17  clothing tax and tuition increase and you have to

         18  pay for the Governor's proposal and birth

         19  certificate, you have to pay 20, 30 dollars more,

         20  some of us now can't afford to be born, and then a

         21  marriage certificate. If you have to pay extra for a

         22  marriage certificate, I'm very concerned about that

         23  as well.

         24                 So, those are some of his, he will

         25  raise fees and taxes when it comes to the people,
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          2  but he won't do that on the ritz, so if we propose

          3  something like that, would you be willing to support

          4  it as much as you could?

          5                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I

          6  think the answer, Mr. Chairman, as I said earlier,

          7  the Chancellor will testify February 11th, before

          8  the Assembly Ways and Means Committee, the trustees,

          9  you know, the budget came out two days ago, the

         10  trustees have not been briefed on the budget yet, I

         11  think it's premature for us to take any response to

         12  any of those kinds of questions until the University

         13  has had an opportunity to deliberate over the

         14  budget.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony.

         17                 MS. BOWEN: Good afternoon. I'm

         18  Barbara Bowen. I'm President of the Professional

         19  Staff Congress. I'm very proud to be here with the

         20  students and colleagues. I'm also proud to be here

         21  with my colleague, Professor John Hyland, whose

         22  article on tuition was quoted earlier today.

         23                 I want to start by saying that our

         24  answer to the question you pose is to endorse the no

         25  to both strategy. The union does not agree that the

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  choice is between firing people and increasing

          3  tuition, and I have to say I resent even the

          4  suggestion that that is the choice that we're going

          5  to have to make.

          6                 The answer to that is that there's a

          7  third thing, and the third thing is what always

          8  should have been in place to start, and that's

          9  public support for public education.

         10                 I'm speaking on behalf of the 20,000

         11  faculty and professional staff represented by the

         12  Professional Staff Congress, and I want to thank

         13  you, Chairman Barron, for holding today's hearing.

         14                 I also want to thank the members of

         15  the City Council Higher Education Committee.

         16                 The City Council has been extremely

         17  supportive of City University. You recognize that

         18  investment in the people of New York, through a

         19  strong public university, is an essential investment

         20  for the City of New York.

         21                 Last year you found a way to avoid

         22  that zero sum game, you found a way to address the

         23  City budget deficit without damaging an institution

         24  that has been a lifeline for hundreds of thousands

         25  of New Yorkers.
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          2                 You proved that you are committed to

          3  the historic mission of City University, to educate

          4  the children of the whole people.

          5                 I'm very proud to be with some of the

          6  children of the whole people today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Just a second.

          8                 Just for the Administration, I want

          9  to get you an opportunity, because I'm sorry,

         10  Barbara --

         11                 MS. BOWEN: Of course.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I forgot to ask

         13  my colleagues if they had questions for you. I'm so

         14  sorry, Barbara.

         15                 MS. BOWEN: It's okay. I'm ready at

         16  any point.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We've got to let

         18  the Council ask the questions of students, of

         19  Administration, faculty. I can't just have a

         20  free-for-all from the audience or we'll never get

         21  out of here today.

         22                 But I'm so sorry about that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It was just a

         24  quick question. I just want to understand how many

         25  -- I know that Mr. Hill talked very articulately
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          2  about the number of students, the 70,000, where the

          3  TAP would impact. I just didn't know how many -- I'm

          4  trying to figure out, mostly for the public, I

          5  understand, and I am supportive, but the fact of the

          6  matter is, it seems to me for the students whose

          7  household is $7,000 or less, is a huge challenge,

          8  particularly if one is getting financial aid and

          9  goes beyond the four years, is also a huge,

         10  unbelievably impossible challenge for anybody's

         11  whose household is one dollar more, and I wanted to

         12  understand how many students we're talking about in

         13  these different categories; how many are under

         14  perhaps the household income of 7,000. How many

         15  students fit into that? I don't know if you know.

         16  And then how many, obviously, some of the other

         17  breakdowns?

         18                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: I don't have

         19  the total breakdown for you. I can tell you, though,

         20  that 60 percent of the students have incomes of less

         21  than $30,000.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So,

         23  between the seven and the 30, would be a group that

         24  is tremendously impacted by any tuition hike?

         25                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: I'm sorry?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I said the

          3  group between 7,000 and 30,000 would be tremendously

          4  impacted by any tuition hike.

          5                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And they would

          7  have to keep taking out loans and taking out loans,

          8  which I know from personal experience is a very

          9  large burden.

         10                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: We have

         11  approximately 32,000 students with incomes of

         12  $10,000 or less.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 And then the question is, in terms of

         15  the students who go beyond four years, again you may

         16  not have this number now, who are impacted because

         17  the financial aid runs out, is that also a number

         18  that you have, in terms of that student?

         19                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: I don't have

         20  that number, but I'll be glad to get it for you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And then

         22  the numbers of students who are undocumented; I know

         23  CUNY works very diligently to try to get students to

         24  be documented, but I just didn't know, obviously

         25  those students also have a financial challenge.
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          2                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Definitely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Is that

          4  a number that we could get at some point so that we

          5  could keep making the case. The public does not

          6  understand the fact that there are many students

          7  obviously working part-time trying to make ends

          8  meet, and who do not qualify for financial aid in

          9  the total form for one reason or another.

         10                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HILL: And I just want

         12  to be able to make that argument as articulately as

         13  possible.

         14                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: We'll get a

         15  breakdown for you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HILL: Okay. Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry to bring them back.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

         19  Gennaro.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I have no

         21  questions for these witnesses.

         22                 I would like to thank you for your

         23  appearance here today and thank you for your

         24  advocacy on the part of our students.

         25                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just have one

          3  other question. Almost finished.

          4                 I think it's 60 percent, less than

          5  25,000, I think it's 25,000, but the students have a

          6  brilliant question, because I think in your

          7  testimony you were saying that the economy is bad so

          8  sometimes you have to increase tuition. There's a

          9  brilliant question. It says, and it's coming from

         10  the students. "Tuition was free through two world

         11  wars and the Great Depression, so why hike now?"

         12                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: It's

         13  a great question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And we need a

         15  great answer.

         16                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: The

         17  only thing I can think of, that even while we were

         18  in the Great Depression the City of New York was not

         19  going bankrupt, and other than that I can't imagine.

         20                 Obviously it was a much smaller

         21  university system at the time, but I think at the

         22  heart of tuition was a fiscal crisis, and I think in

         23  the 1930s, despite everything that was going on, the

         24  City of New York was not on the brink of bankruptcy.

         25                 We were not firing 20,000 school
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          2  teachers in 1930 the way we were firing 30,000

          3  school teachers in 1977. So, I think the times are

          4  very different and the circumstances were clearly

          5  very different, and that's about as close as I can

          6  get to giving you an honest answer as to why not in

          7  the depression.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, you tried.

          9  I'll give you an A for effort.

         10                 Thank you very much for your

         11  testimony.

         12                 MS. BOWEN: Maybe I could try a

         13  different answer to that question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         15                 MS. BOWEN: Much as I enjoy and

         16  respect working with Ernesto, I have to say I have a

         17  different answer, which is that the political agenda

         18  is different. I mean I think that's the reason.

         19  There's been expansion. It's not natural. I mean, to

         20  say that it's because the City University is going

         21  bankrupt; well, why is the City University going

         22  bankrupt? Because there's a political agenda to

         23  defund the City University, and that agenda is tied

         24  to the change in population that has gone to the

         25  City University, and it's tied to hostility to
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          2  educating middle class people, as well as poor

          3  people and immigrants.

          4                 So, let me just come back to where I

          5  was and I wanted to acknowledge that there's an

          6  entire class that came here today. They're from

          7  Professor Greenbaum's class from LaGuardia Community

          8  College, and they took their class to come here

          9  today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         11  much. And I just want to let you know, right after

         12  this panel we will be getting you out, because I

         13  know you have another engagement. Thank you for your

         14  patience.

         15                 MS. BOWEN: Okay. Let me try to go

         16  quickly.

         17                 This week marks the beginning of a

         18  new battle to protect the City University and

         19  preserve access to higher education.

         20                 Governor Pataki released his

         21  Executive Budget two days ago. By now you've heard

         22  the details of his proposal for CUNY. The plan just

         23  slashed the University state support by 12 percent,

         24  $81 million, is a blatant move to force a tuition

         25  increase of over $1,000 on our students.
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          2                 The Professional Staff Congress is

          3  opposed to any tuition increase at CUNY. A tuition

          4  increase, whether it is dressed up as tuition

          5  indexing or differential tuition or increased fees

          6  is a tax increase. And don't believe anyone who says

          7  the Governor's budget proposes no new taxes. It's

          8  just that this tax increase is proposed for those

          9  least able to pay and fobbed off as the inevitable

         10  cost of maintaining City University.

         11                 I call on you, members of the

         12  Council, as tested and courageous supporters of City

         13  University, and our students, to resist the flawed

         14  logic of inevitability, and become a voice against

         15  increased tuition in Albany and with CUNY's

         16  trustees.

         17                 The Union has worked closely with

         18  Chancellor Goldstein and the Board of Trustees in

         19  restoring funding and negotiating a contract that

         20  helped to rebuild the University, but we oppose the

         21  Chancellor's acceptance, as it was reported in the

         22  Times today, of increased tuition as inevitable.

         23                 Ernesto Malave spoke earlier about a

         24  rational tuition increase. There is nothing rational

         25  about a tuition increase.
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          2                 As I also am concerned, as I hear

          3  what seems to be a strategy of protecting financial

          4  aid, and allowing a higher tuition to be imposed.

          5                 Financial aid does not cover the

          6  whole need of our students, and it's not sufficient.

          7  It's good to protect financial aid, but it's not

          8  enough to protect that and allow a higher tuition to

          9  go through.

         10                 While the expected position for the

         11  union might be to support anything that protects our

         12  members' salaries and jobs, the PSC sees our

         13  interest as larger than stop-gap solutions.

         14                 A tuition increase is neither morally

         15  acceptable, nor financially sound. It's not, in

         16  fact, rational. It's a self-defeating strategy for

         17  the University and for New York.

         18                 What I want to show today is that

         19  increased tuition has failed to increase total

         20  support for public universities, and that CUNY is in

         21  a unique position, quite different from SUNY, for

         22  instance, because of a history of savaging its

         23  budget, and the unusually low average income of our

         24  students.

         25                 What may look logical and even
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          2  inevitable is not so for CUNY.

          3                 City University tuition was raised

          4  twice in the 1990s, as you've heard. But by the end

          5  of the decade CUNY had $159 million less annually in

          6  total funds. Raise tuition, funding totally

          7  decreases.

          8                 The record from other states is

          9  similar. Raising tuition does not have the effect of

         10  raising total funding. It often contributes to just

         11  the opposite result.

         12                 It's a little bit counter-intuitive

         13  and people think, oh, that will increase the funding

         14  base, the evidence is the opposite.

         15                 So, anyone who thinks that there's

         16  nothing else to do, faced with the hole dug for us

         17  by the Governor's budget, needs to think again about

         18  the fact: Raising tuition may plug a one-year hole,

         19  but it typically opens the door to deeper and deeper

         20  cuts.

         21                 CUNY funding was cut by 35 percent in

         22  the last decade, and that was while tuition had been

         23  raised. If you want to protect the City University,

         24  you must take a hard stand for increased public

         25  support.
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          2                 We're at a moment of equipoise here

          3  in the whole nature of CUNY's funding. If this

          4  tuition increase is accepted, CUNY goes from being a

          5  publicly supported institution, to being a publicly

          6  assisted one.

          7                 Shifting the burden of support to

          8  those least able to pay is privatizing. It's

          9  abandonment of the concept of public higher

         10  education.

         11                 If we in this room ascent to the

         12  tuition increase, we have forever changed a

         13  commitment to higher education in this City that has

         14  been in place since the free academy in 1847.

         15                 Proponents of a tuition increase will

         16  tell you that CUNY students haven't had an increase

         17  since 1995, or that our tuition is not the highest

         18  among State University's, although it is one of the

         19  three highest for community colleges, or that SUNY

         20  already had higher tuition and fees.

         21                 But those arguments leave out the one

         22  cardinal fact, CUNY is not like other public

         23  universities, its students are not like students in

         24  Texas or Illinois or even Stonybrook, our students

         25  are among the poorest college attendees in the
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          2  nation, and part of the energy and the verve and the

          3  desire that we heard earlier today I think speaks to

          4  that striving, aspiring. We're aspirers, as one of

          5  the students said earlier.

          6                 When measured against average family

          7  income, even a small tuition increase is staggering.

          8                 It's the University Office's own

          9  institutional research office that gives us the

         10  figures that we've heard this morning. I'll just

         11  quote the community college figures. Sixty-nine

         12  percent of the students at the community colleges

         13  have a household income less than 30,000, and fully

         14  half have a household income less than 20,000.

         15                 Consider what a tuition increase of

         16  $1,000 or more would mean to those students. A

         17  $4,400 tuition bill, is nearly 15 percent of the

         18  total family income for two-thirds of our students.

         19                 In 1995, students and their families

         20  saw tuition surge by 30 percent, shifting the burden

         21  of funding, higher education from the state to

         22  students, and that's what we're seeing, shifting the

         23  burden.

         24                 Help to fuel a four-year decline in

         25  enrollment at City University, during which we lost
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          2  nearly 18,000 students. So, the idea that it's not

          3  tied to, that enrollment decline is not tied to a

          4  tuition increase I think bears further

          5  investigation.

          6                 Obviously, it's complex, but we look

          7  at that picture of 18,000 students lost following

          8  that imposition of tuition.

          9                 We will never know what those

         10  students might have become, if they had had the

         11  opportunity of a college education.

         12                 How many fabulous teachers did New

         13  York lose? How many medical technicians, how many

         14  artists and writers, how many potential City Council

         15  members? We won't know, and we won't know this time

         16  unless we prevent further increases.

         17                 The real scandal, of course, is that

         18  CUNY has been systematically undermined for the past

         19  ten years by a series of tripling budget cuts.

         20                 If the Governor is serious about

         21  fueling the economic development of New York, he and

         22  the Legislature must do now what other state

         23  governments across the nation did in the 1990s,

         24  invest in higher education.

         25                 The National Center for Public Policy
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          2  and Higher Education reported that the State of New

          3  York ranked dead last, 50th, in percentage changes

          4  in State and local appropriation for higher

          5  education in 1990s. That's the answer to the

          6  question of why higher tuition increases now. It's

          7  not a fact of nature.

          8                 In constant dollars, New York's

          9  appropriations for higher education shrank two

         10  percent for Fiscal Years 1990 to 1999. Ours went

         11  down two percent. Let's look at a few other states,

         12  and then I'll finish up.

         13                 It went 28 percent in Massachusetts,

         14  37 percent in Connecticut, 56 percent in Texas and

         15  79 percent Florida.

         16                 What I really would like to pose to

         17  us is that we must not make any mistakes about it. A

         18  proposal to increase tuition is a proposal to deny

         19  education.

         20                 It's a proposal to cut off the chance

         21  for a college education from thousands of New

         22  Yorkers who are struggling to attain it.

         23                 The current $3,200 tuition is a

         24  stretch, a hardship for most of our students. Even a

         25  few hundred dollars more would knock many of them
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          2  out of college. The denial of higher education to

          3  thousands of urban men and women, thousands of

          4  working poor, the middle class, of people of color,

          5  of new immigrants, that is not the lamentable

          6  byproduct of a tuition increase, and I think that's

          7  what we have to recognize. It's not just a

          8  byproduct.

          9                 I have to see it as part of the plan.

         10                 Think about who will be lost if an

         11  increase goes through. A pattern appears. We will

         12  lose our poorest students, our women students, our

         13  students who are African-American and Latino,

         14  Bangladeshi and Caribbean.

         15                 The PSC opposes a tuition increase at

         16  CUNY because it's a failed strategy, it's an

         17  irrational strategy for increasing support, but also

         18  because it's part of an agenda to deny that most

         19  powerful tool, knowledge, from those for whom it

         20  could be transformative.

         21                 We, as faculty and staff, work at

         22  CUNY because we know the intellectual excitement of

         23  teaching the students. I know everybody here is

         24  envious of us teaching other students, when you

         25  heard them this morning. We are not prepared to
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          2  sacrifice them. That kind of style and voice you

          3  heard this morning from the students is exactly what

          4  would be cut off and what we would argue is designed

          5  to be cut off by this proposal.

          6                 I'll just end by saying that New York

          7  State can afford to invest in its public

          8  universities.

          9                 It's a myth that there's no money

         10  there. Join us in calling on the Governor and the

         11  State Legislature to invest in higher education, and

         12  do it now.

         13                 The financial solution to the budget,

         14  so-called budget crisis in Albany, is tax equity,

         15  not double taxes on the poor. The solution will not

         16  be found in the pockets of City University students.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 And Professor Hyland will join me if

         19  you have any questions. Professor Hyland will join

         20  me if you have questions, but he's joined in that

         21  testimony.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh, okay. Thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 Are there any questions?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I just wanted
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          2  to thank President Bowen and all of the members of

          3  the PSC for their just unbelievable fight that they

          4  do day-in day-out on behalf of the students of CUNY.

          5  You have my gratitude. I'm sure you have the

          6  gratitude of the people here today, and certainly

          7  you have the gratitude of the people from CUNY. So,

          8  keep up the good work, and God bless, and we'll work

          9  together on behalf of our beloved students.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly,

         12  Barbara, do you concur with the numbers, the fact

         13  that there is this obviously large number, 60

         14  percent, who make under, I think that's your 25,000,

         15  not 30,000 I guess, and also the fact that students

         16  without immigration papers would be adversely

         17  impacted? Anybody whose household income is over

         18  7,000, but just a huge number that I think the

         19  public is not aware of, and I think you said the

         20  same thing.

         21                 MS. BOWEN: Yes, absolutely. And I

         22  think the important point to make is that even

         23  restoring TAP will not solve that problem. It will

         24  not reach the family that, as you say, makes 7,001.

         25  It will not reach the undocumented students, and I
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          2  know the Council just fought with us to enable them

          3  to go to school, and it will not cover so many other

          4  expenses, or the income that they otherwise would

          5  have been contributing to the family.

          6                 So, it does not fill the gap.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 MR. HYLAND: In the interest of time,

         10  I simply want to propose that we include in the

         11  discussion of tuition an examination and a critique

         12  of the reality underneath these statistics.

         13                 We've heard a lot of numbers today,

         14  right? About household income, state and City

         15  budgets. Underneath that, though, is an economic

         16  arrangement that generates and reproduces the

         17  incredible inequality and economic political and

         18  cultural resources. We've got to address that issue,

         19  as well. Because what that means is that we will be

         20  dealing with both the symptoms and the root causes

         21  of this situation. And if we don't deal with that,

         22  we'll be coming back here year after year after

         23  year.

         24                 And what that means is, as Barbara

         25  has already said, a program of tax equity, right?
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          2  And a program of organizing workers in their

          3  workplaces, in their communities and in their

          4  colleges.

          5                 Because the students, as we already

          6  know, many already are workers, or they're preparing

          7  to become workers, and that's the strength that will

          8  win the fight to get the kind of university that we

          9  want.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

         11  both of you really. This City owes both of you a

         12  debt of gratitude for your continued progressive

         13  stand, your fight to deal with race, class, agenda,

         14  xenophobia issues in the City University. Continue

         15  your struggle and we thank you for your testimony.

         16                 MS. BOWEN: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to welcome

         18  to the Chambers up in the balcony, that's where the

         19  rich people sit, up in the balcony, all the rich

         20  people sit up in the balcony, but these are from

         21  Council Member Koppell's office, they are interns. I

         22  wanted to say mentes, I kept messing up mentes and

         23  interns. They are interns from Council Member

         24  Koppell's Office, from Council Member Jackson's

         25  office, from Council Member Avella's Office, and
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          2  from the Central staff.

          3                 So, we want to welcome you to the

          4  Higher Education's Committee meeting, and we're

          5  fighting to keep the tuition from being increased.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 Our next panelists.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: We're going to have a

          9  panel of students now, followed by a panel of

         10  professors.

         11                 This panel of students will be Neha

         12  Gautam; Jeniece Frazier; Michael Favilla; and

         13  Rebecca Feder.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And while they

         15  are coming, I'd like to acknowledge Professor Joan

         16  Greenbaum. Is she here? Professor Greenbaum? She's

         17  on the Board of Directors for the Breck Forum. She's

         18  a long-time activist, and she's a comrad in

         19  struggle, most importantly, to my Chief of Staff

         20  Paul Washington. So, that's our comrad. So, we thank

         21  you for being here.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS: Please raise your right

         23  hand.

         24                 Do you swear that the testimony

         25  you're about to provide before this Committee is the
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          2  whole truth, and that you will answer Council Member

          3  questions truthfully?

          4                 MR. FAVILLA: Yes.

          5                 MS. GAUTAM: Yes.

          6                 MS. FEDER: Yes.

          7                 MS. FRAZIER: Yes.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          9  and organization for the record before you begin

         10  your testimony.

         11                 We'll start with Jeniece Frazier.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Mr. Chairman?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Mr. Chairman,

         15  if I may just take a moment of sort of personal

         16  pride, if I will? Personal pride. I'm going to beam

         17  a little bit here.

         18                 Two of the witnesses on this august

         19  panel, we have the President of the Queens College

         20  Student Body, Rebecca Feder, a former student of

         21  mine; and the Vice President of the Queens College

         22  Student Body, Mike Favilla, who works for me in my

         23  district office.

         24                 Four of my district office people are

         25  Queens College graduates and Michael is the Dean
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          2  among them. So, I welcome you two here today as a

          3  matter of personal pride.

          4                 I'm beaming, I can't even button my

          5  coat.

          6                 So, welcome. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please proceed.

          8  Start with Ms. Frazier, please.

          9                 MS. FRAZIER: Hello. My name is Denise

         10  Frazier. I'm a student at LaGuardia Community

         11  College in Queens.

         12                 I'll be graduating in 2003. I feel

         13  this tuition increase is unfair and unreasonable.

         14  College tuition now is expensive, and it doesn't

         15  other personal expenses, such as transportation and

         16  books.

         17                 I am currently paying my own tuition

         18  and getting little to no financial help.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Just pull the

         20  microphone to you.

         21                 MS. FRAZIER: I work, and it's hard

         22  trying to go to work and go to school both full

         23  time.

         24                 I'm a part of a family of eight. When

         25  I applied for financial assistance, I received

                                                            101

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  barely enough from TAP to pay for my books.

          3                 I was denied Pell, because they said

          4  my parents made too much.

          5                 Our parents can't afford to help me

          6  pay for college because they have to pay mortgage,

          7  car loans, food and other bills, and the expenses of

          8  my five siblings, one of whom is also in college.

          9                 And to make matters worse, my father

         10  just got called overseas to the military. So, it

         11  makes you think, you know, they have this money for

         12  war, there should be something there for education.

         13                 College, I believe, are for those who

         14  want to better themselves that have greater

         15  opportunity.

         16                 I feel this tuition increase is going

         17  to serve as a deterrent rather than an

         18  encouragement.

         19                 In 1995, when tuition was increased

         20  by $750, CUNY lost 8,000 students. If there isn't an

         21  increase in tuition, there will be a decrease in

         22  college graduates in the State of New York.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. GAUTAM: Good afternoon. I want to

         25  thank the Council for letting us speak today. I want
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          2  to speak on behalf of my fellow students at

          3  LaGuardia that are recent immigrants, and that have

          4  excruciating schedules and that just can't be here

          5  today because they're working.

          6                 I know for a fact that tuition hikes

          7  and financial cuts would strongly affect them.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          9  and college for the record, and then continue. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 MS. GAUTAM: I attend LaGuardia

         12  Community College. My name is Neha Gautam.

         13                 And a large percent of the CUNY

         14  students at my college are recent immigrants, many

         15  of who are waiting to be documented and do not

         16  qualify for any financial aid. And in addition,

         17  because of their status as immigrants, they have

         18  extra burdens looking for jobs.

         19                 Foreign students have to juggle

         20  working. They have to pay tuition bills and they

         21  have to take classes.

         22                 Increased tuition will only make it

         23  harder for these students to get an education and

         24  become part of the job force.

         25                 Non-resident tuition is already
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          2  higher for foreign students than it is for American

          3  citizens.

          4                 These students have a hard-working

          5  morale and they're committed to their goals. They're

          6  eager to get professional jobs. These students are a

          7  necessity for the future of New York because they

          8  become taxpayers, and like you said before, people

          9  who graduate from CUNY between 1970 and 1977, pay an

         10  estimated 708 million per year more in C taxes than

         11  if they had not earned a college degree.

         12                 And my mother, who came here looking

         13  for the American dream a 21 also attended LaGuardia

         14  Community College, and when she went to college more

         15  than 15 years ago, she had to juggle two jobs, go to

         16  school, pay for rent and bills and take care of me,

         17  and because of all the obstacles she was facing, I

         18  was raised by my grandparents out-of-state because

         19  she thought that would be a better suitable life for

         20  me. And as a result, I went for years living without

         21  my mother.

         22                 And I have many friends at school

         23  now, most of them work and help their family with

         24  expenses, and I work full-time and I help my mom

         25  with expenses and bills. And my friends that are
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          2  undocumented work even harder because they have no

          3  financial aid whatsoever. And they tell me about the

          4  nightmares of looking for jobs post 9/11 and it's

          5  really hard out there to look for a job in general.

          6  I mean, unemployment is like terrible right now. And

          7  when I think of public higher education, I think of

          8  all the things I love about living in America and

          9  living in a democracy and the right to education

         10  should be everybody's right, and this raise of

         11  tuition and cutbacks for financial aid makes the

         12  right to an education less attainable for the

         13  population of the people. And I know for a fact that

         14  this would hurt a lot of us tremendously.

         15                 We need to stop making the American

         16  dream an American nightmare.

         17                 Thank you for your time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: As we continue in

         19  our testimony, I want to thank both of you for that

         20  intelligent, articulate, passionate testimony. And I

         21  just want to reassure you, you keep struggling, you

         22  stay with it, we're going to fight hard to make sure

         23  you have the same opportunities that everybody else

         24  has.

         25                 Thank you so much.
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          2                 MS. FEDER: My name is Rebecca Feder.

          3  I'm the President of the Queens College Student

          4  Association.

          5                 Chairman Barron, Counsel, thank you

          6  very much for letting us speak.

          7                 In the interest of time, I submitted

          8  a testimony, which is going to be full length. This

          9  is an abridged version, if I may?

         10                 I am graduating this year and I am a

         11  senior. However, the in-coming freshman for this

         12  year will be paying $2,050 more in tuition and fees

         13  than I have without the increase in tuition.

         14                 This is including out-of-pocket

         15  expenses such as the technology fee and other fees

         16  that have come on that I'm actually going to let my

         17  vice president, Mike Favilla, speak about in more

         18  detail.

         19                 I also want to bring to the attention

         20  Chancellor Goldstein's position that was quoted

         21  today in the New York Times in regard to having the

         22  index tuition -- plan to index tuition. I'm sorry. A

         23  plan to index tuition. In the end, this is a slow

         24  progression, with an increase in tuition, and the

         25  bottom line is that there are going to be New
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          2  Yorkers who will be priced out of Higher Education.

          3                 Moreover, with the index you lose

          4  accountability. The cost of public higher education

          5  should continue to be open to public scrutiny, as

          6  are all other user taxes.

          7                 But most importantly, I'd like to say

          8  that CUNY has, the goal of CUNY is to provide

          9  quality education at affordable prices.

         10                 Right now the Chancellor and the

         11  entire University and Administration has continued

         12  restoring public confidence in our University and

         13  providing a greater vision for its future.

         14                 They're succeeding in doing this. Now

         15  is the time when it is the government's

         16  responsibility to make sure that we are economically

         17  adapt to accepting students and haven't students be

         18  able to, in a time when the economy is failing and

         19  is hurting, now is an even more important time for

         20  us to have students, have the ability for students

         21  to enter, and make it more affordable, as opposed to

         22  less affordable.

         23                 This is for everyone's best interest.

         24  The better educated we can get, our nation and our

         25  city and our state, the better our economy will be
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          2  in the future. And I think that is the most

          3  significant part of everything that CUNY stands for.

          4                 And, again, I'd like to thank this

          5  Council, this Committee, for everything that they

          6  have done, for their resolution, and their views and

          7  their commitment to further helping public higher

          8  education.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         10  much for your testimony. And I think it's very

         11  self-less of you to be here struggling with us, even

         12  though you'll be graduating and leaving, and that's

         13  the honorable thing, so we thank you very much for

         14  your support.

         15                 MR. FAVILLA: Hi. My name is Mike

         16  Favilla. I'm from Queens College. Good afternoon,

         17  Council Member Barron, Council Member Brewer,

         18  Council Member Gennaro.

         19                 I'd like to thank the Council for

         20  recognizing the high importance of these issues, by

         21  having these hearings, by presenting this

         22  resolution, and also by last year two times saving

         23  the Peter Vallone scholarship.

         24                 I'd like to start off by telling you

         25  a little about myself, and how I've been able to
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          2  attend Queens College the last five years. This is

          3  also my last year.

          4                 When I was 16 years old my parents

          5  told me they were not going to be able to send me to

          6  college and I'd have to pay my way through it. So,

          7  for two years I worked a near minimum wage job,

          8  saving up just to pay for my first year at CUNY

          9  college.

         10                 When I applied for college, I only

         11  applied at CUNY school since I knew there was no way

         12  I could afford to attend colleges anywhere else.

         13                 As a freshman I continued to work

         14  evenings as I went to school during the day, but the

         15  money I was earning was not going to be enough for

         16  my second year.

         17                 I was now looking to place my second

         18  year's tuition on my first credit card that I had

         19  rarely used, but in my freshman year my uncle passed

         20  and had left me just enough money to pay for my

         21  second year of college.

         22                 Although two years were paid for I

         23  continued to work never making more than $8 an hour

         24  at any part time job.

         25                 On my third year, I had once again

                                                            109

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  saved up enough to pay my full tuition.

          3                 I was happy as I was continuing at

          4  Queens College because I knew I would only have to

          5  pay one more semester, as CUNY used to reward

          6  students who stay at their colleges for their entire

          7  under graduate career by paying for their last

          8  semester.

          9                 As I entered my last year at Queens

         10  College, I learned that my family's medical

         11  insurance was no longer going to cover me.

         12                 I was not sure what to do, but was

         13  very fortunate to have known Councilman Gennaro, who

         14  offered me a job after he was elected.

         15                 When I accepted the job, I decided to

         16  go to school part-time in order to both work for the

         17  Council and serve as a student government leader.

         18                 Working for Council Member Gennaro,

         19  is not only a great learning experience, but also

         20  provides me with the medical coverage that I would

         21  have otherwise had to stop school to pay for.

         22                 Unfortunately, many CUNY and SUNY

         23  students aren't as lucky as I am. In today's Metro

         24  section of the New York Times, Chancellor Goldstein

         25  noted that he was going to have to raise tuition,
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          2  even though 60 percent of CUNY students from

          3  households make less than 30,000 a year, and as

          4  we've heard today, it's probably like less than

          5  $25,000 a year.

          6                 For these students, CUNY is not one

          7  of many options, it's their only choice.

          8                 I already know of two friends who had

          9  to put off this semester because they couldn't

         10  afford it. The first is my friend John, who needs to

         11  help support his mother and his father in these

         12  fiscally different times and will be working six

         13  days, 12-hour shifts. John hopes to return to Queens

         14  College in September to continue his sophomore year.

         15                 Another friend of mine had her family

         16  escape Indonesia to evade the terrorism and

         17  persecution there.

         18                 Her family situations are now forcing

         19  her parents to move to Canada, while she will live

         20  here on her home.

         21                 Needless to say, she will not be able

         22  to return this semester and probably not next

         23  September if tuition goes up.

         24                 There are thousands of other stories

         25  like this, and probably many more that are
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          2  borderline of dropping out like I was.

          3                 That is why in 1995 29,000 students

          4  dropped out of CUNY and SUNY when a smaller tuition

          5  hike was implemented. This is much larger and much

          6  more burdensome.

          7                 We are at an advantage where we know

          8  the outcome and the State can change the outcome by

          9  better supporting the universities.

         10                 I urge the State to fully protect the

         11  TAP program and continue to fund SEEK and College

         12  Discovery Programs.

         13                 These are programs that give

         14  opportunity to those who would otherwise not go to

         15  college.

         16                 And today, we all know a BA is a

         17  necessity, not a luxury.

         18                 If the goal of CUNY and SUNY is to

         19  provide an affordable education to students, and it

         20  raises its tuition, I think it's time we rethink

         21  their mission.

         22                 New York City is known to many around

         23  the world as a City of opportunity. If the State

         24  once again does not pay its share, they will be

         25  depleting that opportunity, especially to our newest
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          2  citizens.

          3                 I say once again not pay their share,

          4  because the state would like to have you believe the

          5  tuition hasn't been raised since 1995, and the

          6  students will be getting a nice deal.

          7                 On the contrary. The City University

          8  just last year imposed $150 technology fee and

          9  eliminated the last semester-free program.

         10                 This means that a freshman that

         11  entered this year will pay about $500 more a year

         12  over a four-year period than I did.

         13                 It would be nice if the State would

         14  fund the University like it used to so the Board and

         15  the Chancellor would not have to impose these fees.

         16                 My message to the Governor is that

         17  students pay CUNY's last year, you find a way to pay

         18  on your own this year. But it may be hard to

         19  convince Governor Pataki, since he doesn't feel we

         20  deserve more than eighth grade education.

         21                 But I know with people like

         22  Councilman Barron and Councilman Gennaro, they can

         23  take this to Albany and fight this tuition hike.

         24                 It's been said before, and must be

         25  said again, the money the State and City put into

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  education cannot be seen as an expense, but as an

          3  investment.

          4                 I thank you, Chairman Barron for your

          5  time, and continued efforts on this matter.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

          7  much for your testimony. It was well said.

          8                 MR. FAVILLA: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And we appreciate

         10  your support, as you graduate, and wish you the best

         11  of luck in all your future endeavors and your

         12  continued support for us is always appreciated, and

         13  supporting yourself and fellow students.

         14                 MR. FAVILLA: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Any questions?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yes, just one

         17  simple question for Mike and Rebecca.

         18                 First of all, thank you for coming

         19  here today, and helping us do what we have to do

         20  with regard to the Governor, taking on this great

         21  challenge.

         22                 But I'm just curious as to, who is

         23  the best Political Science Professor either of you

         24  had during your education at Queens; who would that

         25  be?
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          2                 MS. FEDER: That's a good question.

          3                 MR. FAVILLA: I think it's the man at

          4  the microphone over there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay. Right

          6  answer. Okay, thank you both very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just said that

          8  you're all independent and strong and you don't have

          9  to take this from him now.

         10                 I just want to know, why was he the

         11  best? What did he do?

         12                 No, thank you very much for your

         13  testimony. I appreciate it.

         14                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, the next panel, we

         15  want to make sure we include one of the other

         16  community colleges we haven't heard from, so we have

         17  student Haile Rivera from Hostos Community College,

         18  then we have a panel of professors, and please step

         19  forward all together.

         20                 Dr. Steve Panford; Dr. Anne Friedman;

         21  Dr. Ronald Hayduk; and Dr. Lenore Beaky. Thank you.

         22                 Please raise your right hand. Do you

         23  swear that the testimony you're about to provide

         24  before this Committee is the whole truth and you

         25  will answer the Council Members' questions
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          2  truthfully?

          3                 DR. PANFORD: Yes.

          4                 MS. BEAKY: Yes.

          5                 PROFESSOR HAYDUK: Yes.

          6                 DR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

          7                 MR. RIVERA: Yes.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please state your

          9  name and organization and position for the record,

         10  before you begin your testimony, and I'd like to

         11  start with the student, Haile Rivera. Or Mr. Haile

         12  Rivera, pardon me.

         13                 MR. RIVERA: Allrighty. Well, good

         14  afternoon. I've been waiting here for two hours and

         15  I'm sure my boss is going to be happy to know that

         16  I'm two hours late to work, but that's okay.

         17                 I want to thank everybody who has

         18  been here today. PSC, you deserve a big round of

         19  applause for everything you've done for us.

         20                 I also want to say, members of the

         21  press, if they're still here, and, of course, Slam.

         22  Wherever you are, Slam, I give you props.

         23                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chair,

         24  distinguished members of the Higher Education

         25  Committee. I would like to thank this Committee for
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          2  granting me once again the opportunity for coming

          3  here. Been here before, unfortunately, I'm going to

          4  say that, to speak on our education again. I was

          5  here last year speaking on the same topic.

          6                 Yesterday I was reading in the

          7  Spanish newspaper, Dialio La Preunte, or the Media,

          8  I don't know how to translate that part, and there

          9  was a student there from Hostos actually, and there

         10  was just a little piece that came out and she was

         11  one of the victims, I guess, of a fire, of some

         12  kind, and it was bad enough I did know her, I do

         13  know her, I haven't seen her yet, I haven't heard

         14  from her. But it really angered me to a certain

         15  extent, but even it's angered me more that she won't

         16  be able to come back to school because of that fire,

         17  but most importantly because of the financial aid

         18  and her income that now she's got to come up with

         19  money to find another place to live.

         20                 But getting back to Governor Pataki

         21  and the State Legislature, I am not surprised, and I

         22  don't think anybody in this room should be, that,

         23  again, he has betrayed the students of the City

         24  University of New York with his proposed 2003

         25  budget. This takes place year after year after year,
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          2  and personally, as long as he remains in office,

          3  whichever office that is, this will continue

          4  happening.

          5                 It should be clear by now that our

          6  education is not his priority. It hasn't been, and

          7  his record speaks for itself.

          8                 He says different, of course, but I'm

          9  an individual who finds it difficult, extremely

         10  difficult, to believe the words of a politician, but

         11  not to me, not everybody is a politician, because

         12  I'm going to be more specific, much less a

         13  Republican politician.

         14                 I have and will continue to judge a

         15  person, an individual, by his or her actions, and I

         16  believe, just probably as I'm sure everybody does,

         17  that actions speak louder than words, and Governor

         18  Pataki's actions have spoken.

         19                 I am here today because I am one of

         20  the many students who depend on benefits from the

         21  Tuition Assistance Program, otherwise known as

         22  "TAP."

         23                 Some people, like Governor Pataki,

         24  his allies, may not think otherwise, or may think

         25  that we're okay, what we're getting for our
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          2  education, but they're wrong. They're wrong and

          3  they're wrong.

          4                 I'm here today to let Governor

          5  Pataki, Sheldon Silver, Joe Bruno, and everybody who

          6  is involved in the process, that CUNY needs more,

          7  not less. It's very simple.

          8                 Programs such as SEEK, College

          9  Discovery and TAP cannot be underfunded. Governor

         10  Pataki proposes holding one-third of TAP grants to

         11  college students and to graduation.

         12                 It is very clear that he does not

         13  know anything about the students who attend CUNY.

         14                 At Hostos, for example, we need all

         15  the help we can get in order to graduate. We do not

         16  want TAP after we graduate, because in all honesty,

         17  if this proposal is approved, many students at

         18  Hostos will not be able to graduate and that is the

         19  fact.

         20                 It is surprising, and, unfortunately,

         21  she is not here today, but for the first time I'm

         22  going to actually in public thank her, but for those

         23  of us who don't know, right now I am paying for my

         24  books and my education, financial aid is not

         25  covering, this is my last semester, thank God, and
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          2  the person who I have been blessed, I'm going to say

          3  that, has been my girlfriend. And I'm going to

          4  acknowledge her, because has been the greatest to

          5  me.

          6                 The mission of the City University is

          7  to educate the whole people, according to them, and

          8  uphold the commitment to academic excellence while

          9  providing equal access to and an opportunity for

         10  education.

         11                 Raising tuition and cutting funding

         12  for educational programs is not educating the whole

         13  people, and it is definitely not providing equal

         14  access to and opportunity for education.

         15                 Does the Governor know what it's like

         16  to walk from the West Side of Manhattan to 149th

         17  Street and Grand Concourse in the Bronx?

         18                 Does he know what it's like to go to

         19  school and know that you will not be able to buy a

         20  snack because you have no money? I'm going to try

         21  not to cry.

         22                 Does he know what it's like to sleep

         23  without a roof on your head?

         24                 Does he know what it feels to face

         25  your children and tell them that you don't have the
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          2  money to buy the gallon of milk that they want? I'm

          3  sorry.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's all right.

          5  That's all right. We are with you and we know how it

          6  is. We appreciate it.

          7                 Give him a big hand-clap for having

          8  the courage to go forward.

          9                 MR. RIVERA: The Governor, I don't

         10  know who brought him in here.

         11                 Does he know what it's like to wake

         12  up with an empty stomach, to go to sleep with an

         13  empty stomach? Does he know what it's like to not

         14  have the money to buy your college books, or to even

         15  pay for the copies?

         16                 The Governor can't dare answer yes to

         17  any of these questions because he doesn't know how

         18  it feels, and, obviously, he doesn't seem to care.

         19                 I know from my own experience the

         20  feelings, the frustration, the anger and the pain

         21  and the suffering. I have walked from the West Side

         22  of Manhattan to 149th Street and Grand Concourse in

         23  the Bronx -- sorry -- in order to attend classes at

         24  Hostos. I know what it's like to go to sleep with an

         25  empty stomach, and wake up with one.
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          2                 I know what it's like to be sleeping

          3  without a roof on my head. I know what it feels to

          4  be hungry and not have any money to buy a snack. I

          5  know what it's like to see a child crying because he

          6  wants milk but there's no money to buy it. Trust me,

          7  I know. And it's hard to forget it.

          8                 I'm telling this story because I know

          9  for a fact that there are many students at CUNY and

         10  at Hostos that have been and probably find

         11  themselves in the same situation, that was not too

         12  long ago, and I'm talking about nine months ago for

         13  a fact. It breaks my heart to see that in the

         14  richest country in the world, it seems difficult to

         15  offer a basic affordable education to us, but yet we

         16  want to go to war, kill the innocent people?

         17                 The last time I was here, speaking on

         18  the same topic, as I said before, I said that CUNY

         19  was filled with success stories, and we did not have

         20  to go very far to find them.

         21                 I'm not going to mention Colon

         22  Powell, because I have very strong feelings against

         23  that guy. Take a look at the honorable and admirable

         24  chair, Charles Barron, a graduate from what used to

         25  be called "the New York City Community College," now
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          2  called New York City College of Technology.

          3                 He's also a graduate of CUNY's most

          4  active, I repeat, most active college, Hunter

          5  College. Take a look at the only Council Member, who

          6  unfortunately she had to step out, who also worked

          7  as a receptionist by picking up outside calls,

          8  Margarita Lopez. A graduate of City College and from

          9  Latin Avecealo (phonetic), Puerto Rico, also a

         10  public university.

         11                 Take a look at a long-time fighter

         12  for the people of the Bronx, who unfortunately is

         13  also not here, Larry Seabrook, a graduate of John

         14  Jay College of Criminal Justice, and the CUNY Law

         15  School.

         16                 Looked at the dedicated and

         17  courageous Council Member from Washington Heights,

         18  Miguel Martinez, who also graduated from John Jay.

         19                 Lastly, I must mention former City

         20  Councilman, the one of the few and honest elected

         21  officials, Bronx Borough President Adolfo Carrion,

         22  Jr., who obtained his master's degree from Hunter.

         23                 The list goes on and on and on.

         24  Success is right in front of us, and we must

         25  continue fighting for more Barrons, more Lopez, more
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          2  Seabrooks, more Martinez, and more Carrions.

          3                 I know that times are hard and I know

          4  that we have to make cuts probably, but funding for

          5  education should never be cuts. I firmly believe

          6  that the Governor and the State Legislature cannot

          7  and must not balance their budget, as stated

          8  earlier, on the backs of college students and our

          9  family.

         10                 One suggestion, make cuts from your

         11  own salaries. I do not want to see any student go

         12  through what I went through. It's not fair and it

         13  should not happen in this City, state and country.

         14  It's ironic how we speak about freedom, but then ask

         15  yourselves, do we really have it?

         16                 Why are we not free to have an

         17  affordable education?

         18                 First of all, why must we pay for

         19  education? Shouldn't that be a constitutional right

         20  afforded to us?

         21                 I'm almost done, by the way.

         22                 I am here today to ask this

         23  Committee, the Professional Staff Congress, those

         24  who work and attend in CUNY, to support us, the

         25  students, to stand with us and to walk with us.
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          2                 Please do not leave us standing on

          3  our own, and I know this Committee will not, as long

          4  as this chair remains in there.

          5                 We elected you, and you have a moral

          6  and civic obligation to join us in our struggle for

          7  equal access to education.

          8                 Education, without a doubt, must be

          9  protected by all means necessary. It is the future

         10  of our children, our City, State and Nation that

         11  will suffer if education continues to be underfunded

         12  and attacked.

         13                 In closing, I would like to urge the

         14  chair and its members not only to support us through

         15  convening public hearings, but by drafting and

         16  approving resolutions, which we're very grateful

         17  for, that is not enough and we all know it.

         18                 They ask you to organize an all-day

         19  process in Albany, and you can count on me, and I'm

         20  sure you can count on everybody else in this room to

         21  join me.

         22                 Thank you. God bless.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I cannot begin to

         24  tell you how much we appreciate your courage and

         25  your testimony and your strength of conviction to
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          2  your progress and the progress of our people, and I

          3  can assure you, we'll do much more than resolutions

          4  and hearings.  I can assure you of that.

          5                 I want to ask, you know, always at my

          6  hearings I prioritize students, and they can speak

          7  as long as they want, and they usually go first, but

          8  for you professors, the time is of the essence.

          9  Please don't read all of your papers, if you can

         10  summarize, I would greatly appreciate it. We have

         11  some more students that I need to hear from, so I

         12  would greatly appreciate it if you could summarize

         13  your testimony.

         14                 Once again, thank you so much, and

         15  you keep the struggle going because we're going to

         16  make it. We're going to win. Because I can to assure

         17  you of that.

         18                 MR. RIVERA: I just want to excuse

         19  myself, because I do gotta get back to work.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Go ahead. I'm

         21  sorry it took so long to come forward.

         22                 MR. RIVERA: No, it's a pleasure to be

         23  here.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Just one thing

         25  before you go, you acknowledged your girlfriend; is
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          2  she here?

          3                 MR. RIVERA: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay, what's her

          5  name?

          6                 MR. RIVERA: Sarah.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay, I want to

          8  make sure you said her name for the record. So, it

          9  gets you credit. You've got to have your brownie

         10  points.

         11                 DR. FRIEDMAN: My name is Dr. Anne

         12  Friedman. I'm the Vice President for Community

         13  Colleges of the Professional Staff Congress, and a

         14  proud Professor of Developmental Skills at the

         15  Borough of Manhattan Community College.

         16                 Chairperson Barron and esteemed

         17  members of the Higher Education Committee, and

         18  fellow New Yorkers, thank you for the opportunity to

         19  address you today in support of the City Council

         20  resolution that you've just passed.

         21                 I speak to you in my official

         22  capacity as PSC Vice President for Community

         23  Colleges, but it is my 20 plus years as a reading

         24  and writing teacher at BMCC, working with our most

         25  at-risk community college students that informs my
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          2  remarks today.

          3                 You've heard many, many statistics

          4  today, Chairperson Barron. I'm not going to repeat

          5  all of those statistics. I would just like to add to

          6  a point made about the Tuition Assistance Program.

          7                 As you've heard, most of our CUNY

          8  students, and most of the community college

          9  students, more than half, do not receive any tuition

         10  assistance.

         11                 Even those who do, with six semesters

         12  of TAP at the community colleges, which allows for

         13  three years of study, those students in need of

         14  compensatory non-credit work use up their TAP

         15  funding long before they're able to complete their

         16  degrees.

         17                 And we know that our students, given

         18  support, adequate support, do graduate. It may take

         19  them six, eight, ten years to do so, but they do.

         20                 And we know from statistics put out

         21  by our own Chancellory, that after five years our

         22  Community College graduation rates surpass the

         23  national average, and after six, seven and eight

         24  years, graduation statistics continue to rise. And

         25  to me, that shows that our students are really
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          2  heroic.

          3                 My students, our students, are on the

          4  front line as City and State fiscal and political

          5  policies place increasingly onerous obstacles in

          6  their way.

          7                 We have lost 20,000 students at the

          8  community colleges, because of punitive and cruel

          9  workfare rules. It is no accident that hard fiscal

         10  and political policies began 30 years ago,

         11  coinciding with the inauguration of open admissions

         12  at CUNY. And we do know, we do know that a

         13  significant drop in enrollment, accompany the

         14  original imposition of tuition in 1976, and followed

         15  every tuition increase thereafter.

         16                 I can recite a litany of statistics.

         17  We've heard a lot of statistics today, but I know,

         18  and we all know, as we gather here together in this

         19  historic chamber, that statistics have faces and

         20  voices and stories and we have heard many of them

         21  today and we have seen many of the beautiful faces.

         22                 After only a week working with my new

         23  students this term, I am humbled by the aspiration

         24  and determination reflected in a rich and vibrant

         25  spectrum of complexions and a panoply of voices.
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          2                 Community college students are

          3  deserving and tenacious. They are our City and they

          4  are our future.

          5                 I thank you, Council Members, for

          6  your continued support at CUNY. We face a long and

          7  arduous struggle, and it is heartening to know that

          8  this City Council honors its commitment to serving

          9  its populous.

         10                 You are an inspiration in these times

         11  when so many elected officials have broken their

         12  covenant with the poor and working people of our

         13  City, State and nation.

         14                 The PSC proudly joins with you in

         15  fighting the good fight and doing the right thing.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         18  much for your testimony and your continued support

         19  in our struggle.

         20                 Once again, please, I want to ask you

         21  not to read your entire testimony, if we can

         22  summarize, because we've still got some left, and

         23  the hour is getting late and we are going to be put

         24  out of these Chambers soon, and there's an event

         25  going on here. So, if you can summarize.
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          2                 DR. PANFORD: My name is Dr. Steve

          3  Panford. I'm Professor and Chair of the

          4  African-American Studies Department at New York City

          5  Technical College, City Tech. And I have been

          6  involved with CUNY for over three decades, so don't

          7  let these young looks deceive you. This is a really

          8  old man trying to share a few ideas with you about

          9  what I consider to be one of the most important

         10  issues currently in the country.

         11                 I was born in Africa and raised in

         12  Africa. I came here when I was 23 years old to

         13  further my education.

         14                 When I went to NYU to pick up another

         15  master's degree, incidentally I have a graduate

         16  degree before I got here, NYU incidentally asked me

         17  to pay school fees. They said the school fees at

         18  that time was $300 a year, a credit, so you can

         19  imagine how long ago it was.

         20                 The first thing I said was that, no,

         21  I refuse to pay school fees, because education

         22  should be a right of humanity. And from a

         23  philosophic point of view, I would not pay school

         24  fees.

         25                 They said, well, the norm in America,
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          2  particularly of private institutions, is to pay

          3  school fees. I said I refuse to do it.

          4                 I had been brought up in a poor

          5  country, but access to education was available to

          6  everybody who passed his basic exam.

          7                 So, it became a very interesting

          8  issue, and I had to sit there for four hours.

          9  Eventually they look at my record and said, okay,

         10  you can move school fees, and I said thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Since I've been a very happy victim

         13  of no tuition, no school fees in my life, and since

         14  I also am from the philosophical assumption, from a

         15  humanistic perspective, that education is a right of

         16  humanity, education is a right of civility, nobody

         17  anywhere should pay school fees.

         18                 I think that should be part of the

         19  declaration of human rights.

         20                 And, therefore, when I started

         21  teaching in CUNY, way back then, I was very happy to

         22  note that education was accessible, CUNY made it

         23  possible for other people to come to school and

         24  educate themselves and, of course, contribute to the

         25  democratic process, because they became leaders in
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          2  so many ways, they became skilled people, and so on

          3  and so on.

          4                 A lot of people have talked about how

          5  CUNY, of course, has trained people and made it

          6  possible for people to be useful taxpayers, to be

          7  useful citizens, to be leaders and so on.

          8                 I don't want to belabor the point,

          9  but the point is that there is a fight on our hands.

         10                 In the scheme of parities, in the

         11  scheme of things in society, what is important?

         12  Building jails? Fitting the prison industrial

         13  complex? Going to war? Where is the peace dividend?

         14  The cold war is over. The cold war is over we are

         15  told, so what happened to the peace dividend? I

         16  think we should look more into human development.

         17                 Unfortunately, I may want to share

         18  with you certain specific ideas and issues. I know

         19  that I come from a college, New York City Technical

         20  College, where 40 percent of the students,

         21  unfortunately I have to run a few statistics by you,

         22  40 percent of the students come from families of

         23  income of less than 20,000. Ninety percent of our

         24  students are on some kind of aid. Of course, 33

         25  percent of our students have a dependent, 51 percent
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          2  of our students work more than 20 hours a week. So,

          3  if there is increase in tuition, if there is cut in

          4  TAP, in College Discovery, and so on and so on, the

          5  consequences for most of our students, particularly

          6  the poorest ones, will be devastating.

          7                 And I, for one, agree with honorable

          8  Charles Barron and members of the Committee, for

          9  putting up this wonderful fight. You can count on

         10  the support of some of us, that we are going to

         11  mobilize, we are going to talk to people, not only

         12  in colleges, but in the workplace, as somebody

         13  suggested, because CUNY is for New York, it is also

         14  for the people, the working class, and what not, and

         15  we have to maintain that idea.

         16                 In a democratic advanced society like

         17  America, it behooves intelligence, it's very hard to

         18  subscribe to the notion that education is a

         19  privilege and not a right. Education has become a

         20  privilege and not a right. I think that's an idea

         21  that has to be challenged, ultimately changed. Thank

         22  you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony. And keep up the good work

         25  at New York City community college or Technical
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          2  College, as it is named now. We also appreciate the

          3  black history program that you did at the College.

          4  Thank you very much for the work that you've been

          5  doing.

          6                 And I'm afraid, see, when you clap

          7  for folks, they don't want to stop speaking. So, I

          8  don't want to tell you don't clap for them, because

          9  they deserve a round of applause, but measure it.

         10  Like maybe just one, instead of (one clap), just go

         11  (one-clap), all right?

         12                 Next.

         13                 MS. BEAKY: Good afternoon. My name is

         14  Lenore Beaky. I teach English at LaGuardia Community

         15  College, and I represent the University Faculty

         16  Senate, and I want to thank you folks for holding

         17  this hearing and for supporting CUNY so strongly.

         18                 I graduated from Brooklyn College in

         19  1967, tuition was free. There was no tuition. In

         20  fact, my mother knew, we were living in Pennsylvania

         21  in 1960, my mother knew that City University was

         22  free. She moved us to New York so that I could go to

         23  high school in Brooklyn, and then college, because

         24  that was the way I could afford college education.

         25                 Student fees were something like $20
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          2  a semester. I lived at home. My mother cooked my

          3  meals. I worked only in the summer. Of course I made

          4  during those summer jobs $45 a week after taxes, but

          5  you get the idea, it was a different world. And in

          6  fact, today my LaGuardia students pay nearly twice

          7  what I paid in 1970, for a full-year's residence

          8  unit in the PhD program at Columbia, that is $2,500

          9  here at CUNY versus $1,400 a year at Columbia in

         10  1970.

         11                 I want to point out, if the $1,200

         12  tuition increase is also applied in that amount for

         13  community colleges, that's a 50 percent increase.

         14                 Our CUNY students, especially those

         15  at community colleges, which are primarily supported

         16  by the City, are disproportionately poor, persons of

         17  color, women working, raising families, immigrants.

         18  As you've heard, significant numbers of them, maybe

         19  half, don't even receive any TAP. Any TAP, any

         20  financial aid. At LaGuardia it's always been about

         21  40 percent receiving no financial aid. I always

         22  thought we were unusual. I see now that's not the

         23  case.

         24                 Does that mean that they're too rich?

         25  Obviously not. And you heard a couple of students

                                                            136

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  from LaGuardia in the previous panel, explaining

          3  exactly what it's like to, not to receive financial

          4  aid.

          5                 However, we're being told there's no

          6  money, the same song that was sung during the 1990s,

          7  the years of great surpluses, rolling wealth, but

          8  that wealth stayed in the private sector, and was

          9  augmented by tax cuts, more tax cuts, and still more

         10  tax cuts. Now, when the surpluses have run out, we

         11  have more tax cuts.

         12                 I don't think anyone has mentioned

         13  that today, but unless I've misread the Governor's

         14  budget, he is proposing 13 and a half billion

         15  dollars in more tax cuts for this current budget.

         16  Orwellian language comes from the Governor. "New

         17  York State continues to demonstrate national

         18  leadership in providing support for higher

         19  education," he says. I guess that's national

         20  leadership in the race to the bottom.

         21                 CUNY trustees will be permitted not

         22  only to raise tuition, but to establish differential

         23  tuition, and annual tuition increases, that's the

         24  meaning of the Chancellor's indexing proposal.

         25                 What that would do would mean the
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          2  tuition would go up a little bit each year, nobody

          3  would notice, there wouldn't be protests, there

          4  wouldn't be activity, there wouldn't be fights

          5  against it, it would just become part of the

          6  landscape. It would be regularized.

          7                 The Governor doesn't want job killing

          8  tax increases, so he won't approve a progressive

          9  commuter tax, certainly not, God forbid, an increase

         10  in the State income tax, instead we will have

         11  regressive property taxes, restored sales taxes,

         12  that's also in the budget, fees, more fees, transit

         13  hikes, higher tuition, less tax. And the Governor

         14  will go off to Washington, he hopes, as the

         15  tax-cutter of all time, leaving the rest of us to

         16  "clean up the messes," as Fitzgerald once said in

         17  The Great Gatsby.

         18                 Well, this is nothing new. I had a

         19  whole paragraph about what's happened to CUNY, since

         20  1975 and again since 1990, and I also want to

         21  mention diversionary proposal. Yes, the Governor

         22  proposed to cut TAP last year. We all had to rush

         23  out and fight that. The Governor proposes every year

         24  to cut Vallone, that means we all have to go out and

         25  fight that. That means that what we can't do is
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          2  advocate for a truly progressive budget and support

          3  in the public sector and economic and political

          4  justice wastes our energy, and then we can say, oh,

          5  well, it wasn't $1,200, it was only $600, what a

          6  relief.

          7                 At LaGuardia, we studied which

          8  students left the college without completing a

          9  degree, and why they left.

         10                 What were the most recently cited

         11  reasons? This is a study we did this past semester.

         12  Surprise! Most frequently sited reasons for leaving

         13  without graduating, prohibitively high tuition, and

         14  fees, and the appearance of unexpected expenses.

         15                 Also a factor, health-related

         16  problems, their own or those of a family member, and

         17  conflict between jobs and school.

         18                 But all is not lost, our students'

         19  dividends will no longer be taxed. So, cheer up.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Now, Ron, I haven't been successful

         24  so far, if you can summarize, be as brief as

         25  possible. I hate that it has to start with you, but
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          2  I just want to be successful at this, Ron.

          3                 PROFESSOR HAYDUK: I'm going to try to

          4  do one better, Councilman Barron. I'd love to, in

          5  the interest of time and equity, cede my time and

          6  student Alison McDonald, if that would be okay?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You can give that

          8  man a hand-clap now.

          9                 MS. McDONALD: Thank you, Professor

         10  Hayduk.

         11                 My name is Alison McDonald. I'm a

         12  BMCC student and a member of CUNY For All.

         13                 I would like to take this opportunity

         14  to be a voice for all the Borough of Manhattan

         15  Community College students, who could not make it

         16  here today, because their jobs, their classes and

         17  other personal reasons prevented them from being

         18  here.

         19                 We understand that Governor Pataki's

         20  proposal includes using our education to balance the

         21  New York State budget.

         22                 Mr. Pataki would like to increase our

         23  education by $1,200, while reducing our financial

         24  aid by one-third of what we now receive.

         25                 He also proposes that our SEEK and
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          2  College Discover Program is being reduced by 50

          3  percent. The Governor plans to further reduce the

          4  budget of our community colleges by 16 percent.

          5                 There are some who have attended

          6  prestigious colleges who might view these figures as

          7  for the math; however, the BMCC students, these

          8  figures are frightening.

          9                 Simply put, we cannot afford a

         10  tuition hike.

         11                 An increase in our tuition means that

         12  thousands of us will never be able to achieve a

         13  college education.

         14                 It is hard enough for us as it is. We

         15  have to balance jobs and families while we struggle

         16  to achieve that college degree that will ultimately

         17  make our lives better.

         18                 At BMCC, every day that we come to

         19  school we have to walk up and down several flights

         20  of stairs.

         21                 Last semester we had to walk the full

         22  seven flights every day. We pack ourselves like

         23  sardines into classrooms that were designed to

         24  accommodate 20 students, but must now accommodate 30

         25  students, sometimes 40.
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          2                 We go to classes in trailers that has

          3  not heat in the winter and no air conditioning in

          4  the summer.

          5                 If a professor has four or five

          6  classes per day, then for one day that professor has

          7  taught an average of 180 students. Our professors do

          8  this with fairness and dignity, while they try to

          9  maintain an image of sanity for our sakes.

         10                 We believe that the quality of life

         11  of BMCC students is the worst through the entire

         12  community system, but we have a complaint because

         13  our goal is to achieve an education.

         14                 Our community college education has

         15  taught us that, capitalism requires a large reserve

         16  labor pool from which to pull from in times of need.

         17                 This labor force should be unskilled

         18  and uneducated. Therefore, the attack on our

         19  education serves two purposes; one, to balance the

         20  budget so that corporations can continue to be the

         21  recipients of welfare.

         22                 Two, if we're uneducated, then we

         23  become beholden to the few multi corporations that

         24  rule America.

         25                 The Governor's proposal is racist,

                                                            142

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  it's classist and it's sexist, because more than 50

          3  percent of the students who go to CUNY are women.

          4                 It is a direct tax on our education

          5  and it is also a direct attack on the future of New

          6  York City.

          7                 However, as college students, we

          8  would like to offer an intelligent solution to the

          9  problem of the New York State budget deficit.

         10                 It's really quite simple, Councilman

         11  Barron, we're just going to ask you to take this

         12  message to Albany with you.

         13                 Please ask the Governor to spare our

         14  education and tax the rich. Tell Governor Pataki

         15  that we want free CUNY so that minority students can

         16  get the education that they deserve in order to

         17  continue to contribute to the well-being of New York

         18  City.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, thank you

         21  very much for a most powerful testimony. We should

         22  have had you on and we could have all been gone, you

         23  just could have handled the whole thing. I'd like to

         24  have a copy of that, and I'll be glad to take that

         25  message to the Governor on your behalf and on behalf
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          2  of the students, and let him know that this won't be

          3  for minority students. You are the new majority here

          4  in New York City.

          5                 We thank you very much for your

          6  testimony.

          7                 Does anyone have any questions?

          8                 Thank you very much for your

          9  testimony.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next group of --

         11  panel for testimony are students, Crystallina

         12  Rosario; Joseph Phelan; Alicia Avan -- Allan, I'm

         13  not sure. Alicia Allen. Brent Buell; and Joshua

         14  Wolinsky. Oh, okay, Mr. Wolinsky, okay you can join

         15  this group, an adjunct professor.

         16                 Please raise your right hand.

         17                 Do you swear that the testimony

         18  you're about to provide before this Committee is the

         19  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

         20  questions truthfully?

         21                 Please state your name and

         22  organization for the record, before you begin your

         23  testimony and we'll start on my left your right.

         24                 MS. ROSARIO: Good afternoon,

         25  everyone. My name is Crystallina Rosario, and I am
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          2  from Hunter College. I belong to the SEEK Program.

          3                 This is kind of the edited version,

          4  but I'd just like to tell you a little bit about

          5  myself. I'm 18 years old, I'm a freshman, and I'm on

          6  my own and TAP and SEEK provide my education for me.

          7                 I'm here today to testify against the

          8  possible tuition hikes and cuts to TAP and SEEK

          9  program.

         10                 Basically because I honestly want to

         11  tell you all that the opportunities I've gained

         12  through the SEEK and TAP are the only blessings I

         13  really have left. The only chance I have to better

         14  my life and become successful. The opportunity I've

         15  been given to receive an education to these programs

         16  has given my future hope. Without them, I really

         17  feel I don't have a chance to succeed and achieve my

         18  future goals.

         19                 Unfortunately, without these funds

         20  that I receive and with the tuition hikes, I

         21  probably won't be able to continue my education.

         22                 I can't tell you how much that hurts

         23  and how terrified I am of that.

         24                 I came here with a message to all

         25  students, although there aren't many students left.
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          2  I'd just like to say that I'm a strong believer of

          3  fighting for what you believe in, and I must say

          4  that we have to fight for what rightfully belongs to

          5  us and that's an education.

          6                 Just as former minority students

          7  fought for an education, we must fight to keep ours.

          8                 Just as former students fought

          9  against tuition hikes and succeeded, we must fight

         10  and also succeed.

         11                 Together I really believe we can

         12  overcome this battle and we will.

         13                 We as students have so much to offer

         14  this world, and they can't take that away from us,

         15  not without a battle.

         16                 I'd like to give you an example of

         17  how much we have to offer. The honorable Charles

         18  Barron was a SEEK graduate from Hunter. We also have

         19  John Sipoletti, which was the Commissioner of

         20  Personal Resources for the Clinton Administration.

         21  We have Eric Juris, who is a neurobiologist at Duke

         22  University, who was just granted $500,000, and at

         23  one point through his college career was homeless,

         24  and now look where he is.

         25                 Debra Frazier, is part of the
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          2  National AIDS Task Force.

          3                 I lastly have a message for Governor

          4  Pataki, and Assemblyman and Senators who are

          5  proposing this hike: Yesterday someone shared with

          6  me in saying that compares giving a man a fish,

          7  opposed to teaching him how to catch fish. Well,

          8  Governor Pataki, I am not asking for the fish to be

          9  handed me, I'm simply pleading to be taught how to

         10  catch my own fish, to survive. Teach me so that I

         11  can teach others. Teach me so that I can teach

         12  others. Teach me so that I can better my community.

         13  Teach me so that I can benefit our society. Don't

         14  take these opportunities for me, from all CUNY

         15  students, from our future leaders of tomorrow.

         16  That's just something this world cannot afford.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much for that testimony. I appreciate it. I really

         20  appreciate that testimony. Thank you so much.

         21                 MR. PHELAN: Hi. My name is Joseph

         22  Phelan. I'm a recent graduate of Hunter College, a

         23  member of SLAM, the Student Liberation Action

         24  Movement, and I currently work in the office, the

         25  USC office at Hunter College.
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          2                 We heard a lot today about numbers.

          3  We heard a lot today about dollar signs and things

          4  like that. We heard some stories, individual stories

          5  about people, and I just want to bring it back. We

          6  heard the history of CUNY in terms of tuition, but

          7  there is a whole history of CUNY before tuition, and

          8  that was a 125-year-long history, and that was a

          9  history that faced two world wars and a great

         10  depression.

         11                 The same year, as someone mentioned

         12  earlier, the same year that the majority of students

         13  at CUNY, people of color, is the same year that we

         14  had a tuition instated. It also came at the end of a

         15  war, and this war also taxed our economy nationally

         16  and our state level as well, and we're now facing a

         17  war, we're in the first six months, we could use

         18  $200 billion, and they want to raise our tuition.

         19                 I really want to swear right now,

         20  but, in 1969, up until 1969, City College in the

         21  heart of Harlem was 98.5 percent white. In 1969 a

         22  movement of black and Latino and Latina students

         23  made, fought CUNY, fought the Administration, and

         24  they enstated open admissions. And that really

         25  opened up CUNY and made it the school it is today,
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          2  and in 1976, because of that, it was majority people

          3  of color and they instituted a tuition, effectively

          4  closing the doors for a lot of people.

          5                 I'm going to make this really brief.

          6  I'm really frustrated right now that we're here

          7  talking about defending ourselves and maintaining

          8  tuition where it is, because there shouldn't be a

          9  tuition. We shouldn't be defending ourselves, we

         10  should be attacking. We should be attacking the

         11  Governor, we should be attacking the Mayor daily. We

         12  should have time to do this, and we don't because we

         13  have jobs, and we have lives and we have families

         14  and we have to go to school.

         15                 I'm a recent graduate, like I said

         16  before, and I study political science, and I study a

         17  lot of theory, so now I'm an educator waiter. But

         18  besides that, I studied power a lot, and in 1969,

         19  those students at City College, they empowered

         20  themselves, and Governor Pataki thinks he has power,

         21  and he's abusing what he thinks he has. But we have

         22  power too, because we have power to organize

         23  ourselves, to take to the streets, to sign

         24  petitions, to come here today, in the two minutes

         25  you have in between classes, in the five minutes you
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          2  have in between going to classes to library, you can

          3  hand out a flyer, you can get people to come out in

          4  the streets and rally.

          5                 So, I mentioned before, I just wanted

          6  to mention one thing. If you look up right here, it

          7  says "the government of the people, by the people,

          8  for the people," and Lincoln said that and Pataki

          9  effectively is saying an education for the rich, by

         10  the rich, and for the rich basically. No, it's not

         11  going to happen. This is an education for the people

         12  and for the students and for New York City people

         13  and New York City students.

         14                 One more thing I wanted to mention

         15  was, he reminds me of another Governor named George

         16  Wallace during the Jim Crowe era who was very big on

         17  segregation of education.

         18                 Wallace had the National Guard to

         19  support him, and Pataki has the rich people who

         20  don't want to pay taxes to support him. And we're

         21  not talking about money here, we're talking about

         22  lives. They're not trying to raise tuition on our

         23  backs, not paying a budget deficit on our backs,

         24  we're paying on our futures.

         25                 And I won't have that, and we have to
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          2  stand up and not take that.

          3                 So, I wanted to thank you all very

          4  much for having us here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much for your testimony. I appreciate that.

          7                 PROFESSOR BUELL: My name is Professor

          8  Brent Buell. I'm very glad to be here with CUNY

          9  students. I teach in two institutions affected by

         10  the New York State budget: York College in Jamaica,

         11  Queens, and at a maximum facility at Sing Sing

         12  Correctional Facility in Ossining.

         13                 Many facts have been presented here

         14  concerning the outrageous cutbacks being proposed to

         15  education in New York, while there are lavish

         16  increases in appropriations for the incarceration of

         17  human beings.

         18                 At York I teach students, real,

         19  living, breathing people, struggling to afford to

         20  stay in school, while the State withdraws its

         21  support and saddles them with the cost of education,

         22  making a college degree inaccessible to thousands.

         23                 At Sing Sing I teach students who

         24  overwhelmingly have been denied education while the

         25  State spends over $60,000 a year to keep them locked
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          2  up and provides no support for their betterment.

          3                 Education at Sing Sing is provided by

          4  volunteers. In the America I love money would be

          5  spent on college, rather than spending $60,000 a

          6  year to throw people away for 25 years to live.

          7                 Prisons have become New York's only

          8  open admission facilities.

          9                 It is clear that George Bush, George

         10  Pataki and Mayor Bloomberg have a unified plan. It

         11  is a skillfully disguised plot to have the poor

         12  support the obscenely opulent lifestyles of one

         13  percent of the population.

         14                 I'm against damning the next

         15  generation so a few of this generation can play.

         16                 Massive tax cuts which benefit those

         17  with excessive means are funded by tuition

         18  increases, school fees, subway fare hikes,

         19  staggering expensive parking tickets and a

         20  never-ending private revenue-generating system of

         21  prisons.

         22                 The poor are being forced to be the

         23  patrons of the rich. It is the northern version of a

         24  system the south once saw as the ultimate economic

         25  solution.
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          2                 Some politicians today have traded in

          3  their cat o' nine tails for equally destructive

          4  economic bills.

          5                 Despite the tender rhetoric of the

          6  President, Governor and Mayor about "care for our

          7  children and the poor," the political mood of

          8  America today is once again, "Look at them, they are

          9  dangerous, exploitable and disposable." Adolf Hitler

         10  would have agreed. His motto was "work them til they

         11  die."

         12                 The budget cuts to education now

         13  being considered are part of working my students to

         14  death.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Professor, you're

         16  going to be the first one I have to interrupt

         17  because we have another panel, and I see you've got

         18  several pages.

         19                 MR. BUELL: No, this is it. I have one

         20  sentence.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh, okay. Okay.

         22                 MR. BUELL: I want Juan, Hassina, Eva,

         23  Raj, Jamal, Kalim, Yin-Lee, and thousands of others

         24  to get the education they deserve now. Those are my

         25  students.
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          2                 Stop the tuition increases and the

          3  cuts to financial aid and turn this

          4  Titanic-of-a-trend around before it's too late.

          5                 I thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If I would have

          7  just waited one more second, you would have gotten

          8  through.

          9                 MR. BUELL: You can interrupt me any

         10  time, Charles.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 We certainly appreciate that

         14  testimony.

         15                 MS. ALLAN: Good afternoon. I've been

         16  here since 1:00, but I'm not going to read my

         17  testimony, you have copies.

         18                 I just want to say one thing. I came

         19  from Trinidad and Tobago. I came here nine years

         20  ago. And my mother was, she was a Hindu, and she was

         21  forced into an arranged marriage at 14.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS: We need to get your name

         23  for the record. Thank you.

         24                 MS. ALLAN: Alicia Allan.

         25                 My mother, like I said, she had to

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  get married at 13-years-old, and she never even got

          3  to finish high school, and she had four children --

          4  I'm not going to cry -- but she had four children,

          5  and she became single when she was 18 and her only

          6  purpose in life was for us to do better. And we came

          7  to America because this is supposed to be the place

          8  of opportunity, and it's not. And even I look at the

          9  disparity in incomes, this is the worst country in

         10  the world. This is supposed to be the land of the

         11  free, the home of the brave, and it's turning into

         12  worse than a third world country. And the only dream

         13  my mother ever had for us was that we would go to

         14  college and do the things she couldn't do.

         15                 And the cuts to CUNY, the raise in

         16  tuition will stop my career. And believe me, I'm

         17  Harvard material. I'm a very intelligent young

         18  woman, like most of the people here, and we're going

         19  to CUNY because we can't afford anything better, and

         20  CUNY is actually one of the best colleges, by the

         21  way.

         22                 I challenge you to please oppose this

         23  with everything that you have, and it's not going to

         24  hurt your career, it's only going to help, because

         25  we're going to support you and we're behind you 100
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          2  percent and we need your support.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, Ms. Allan,

          5  I thank you for your testimony, and believe me, this

          6  is not about a career for me. If this ended tomorrow

          7  for me, I would still be out there for you, because

          8  we're going to fight and we're going to win. So, you

          9  just hang in there with us. We're going to do plenty

         10  other actions outside of this, and we need everybody

         11  involved. We've just got to take this to the hilt,

         12  and let them know that you're going to govern us

         13  right, or this place is going to be ungovernable.

         14  Because we definitely are going to have our tuition

         15  in place.

         16                 Thank you very much for your

         17  testimony.

         18                 MS. BOLANOS: Our last panel of

         19  speakers are Professor Joshua Wolinsky; Professor

         20  Jacob Appleman; Professor Beatrice Kachulk;

         21  Professor Anthony O'Brien; and Mr. Henry Lesnick.

         22                 Please raise your right hand.

         23                 Do you swear that the testimony

         24  you're about to provide before this Committee is the

         25  whole truth, and that you will answer questions of
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          2  Council Members truthfully?

          3                 MR. WOLINSKY: I do.

          4                 PROFESSOR APPLEMAN: I do.

          5                 PROFESSOR KACHULK: I do.

          6                 PROFESSOR O'BRIEN: I do.

          7                 MR. LESNICK: I do.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          9  and organization position for the record.

         10                 W will start with Mr. Wolinsky on my

         11  left. Thank you.

         12                 MR. WOLINSKY: Hello. My name is

         13  Joshua Wolinski. I've worked at City College in the

         14  Bookstore for 50 years.

         15                 When I came in 1953, to City College,

         16  it was a white enclave in the middle of a black

         17  community.

         18                 Very few minority people came to City

         19  College at that time, and the results were that we

         20  would always presume they are part of the cleaning

         21  staff. And I remember having a discussion with one

         22  student saying, please stop calling me sir, I'm a

         23  peer of yours, I'm the same age you are, he said,

         24  yes, but you're white, you know. And this was 1953.

         25                 Now, let's really look at facts. CUNY
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          2  was strong and thriving during the Civil War. During

          3  the first World War, the Second World War, and the

          4  Great Depression.

          5                 In fact, in 1930, Brooklyn College

          6  and Queens College opened. In 1937 even more was

          7  done. So, what happened? Our priorities have

          8  changed. We have become what we were warned against

          9  during the cold war, we have become the evil empire,

         10  and what I fear most, as an older man is I speak to

         11  the students at City College. I've bonded with them,

         12  I write for their newspaper, The Messenger and so

         13  on, it's a wonderful newspaper with Hank Williams

         14  and Rob Wallace and Ridolfo, who was saved before,

         15  and what they tell me is that they have found other

         16  places to live. But they have a feeling for the

         17  humanity that they would leave behind, if they would

         18  become ex-patriots, like Nina Simone or Langston

         19  Hughes, or Josephine Baker.

         20                 They want to pull their brothers and

         21  sisters out of this draconian mess we're in, a

         22  society without health care, a society without

         23  decent, affordable housing, a society without

         24  affordable education, and when you see hypocrits

         25  like Colon Powell, talking about volunteering,
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          2  volunteering and so on, when he went to City College

          3  free of charge, when I heard Ed Koch telling me

          4  that, you know, I should try to become part of a

          5  senior citizen residence when I retire, which is

          6  about $1,000 a week, you know, there's only one

          7  thing to tell him, to go to hell, you know?

          8                 But anyway, there absolutely isn't

          9  any reason why there should be any tuition at CUNY.

         10  It should all be withdrawn.

         11                 And I'll tell you even something more

         12  about the bookstores. The bookstores, the

         13  cafeterias, should be reinstitutionalized to really

         14  serve the students.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excuse me, sir.

         16  Just in the interest of time, I have to -- because

         17  we're going to be put out here any minute, and I

         18  want to hear from everybody. So, please, could all

         19  of you please summarize your testimonies because the

         20  time is truly running out and I just want to get

         21  everybody in.

         22                 MR. WOLINSKY: I'll just say, the

         23  reason I am here today is I will sort of -- you

         24  know, my general manager at the bookstore got

         25  scared, I made too much overtime this week, and I
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          2  said the best thing I can do with my time is give my

          3  day to CUNY. And I woke up listening to three

          4  wonderful alumni from CUNY, in fact, four, Errol

          5  Maitlan, City College; Sharam Hopper, City College;

          6  Robert Knight, City College; and Amy Goodman,

          7  Redcliff Harbor. Okay, bye-bye.

          8                 DR. APPLEMAN: Mine is very brief.

          9  It's less than a page, and since 1:00 since I've

         10  been here I've been crossing out things, so it's

         11  even briefer.

         12                 Hello, my name is Dr. Jay Appleman.

         13  I'm a Professor of Mathematics at Queensborough

         14  Community College. I'm also the PSC Chapter Chair

         15  for QCC.

         16                 I'm opposed to the tuition increase

         17  because it will effectively prohibit many of our

         18  students from attending Queensborough.

         19                 Almost all students who attend QCC

         20  reside in Queens.

         21                 Our student body reflects the make-up

         22  of the Borough, which is the most ethnically diverse

         23  in the nation.

         24                 Our students come from scores of

         25  different countries and have all sorts of
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          2  backgrounds.

          3                 For many, attending QCC is part of

          4  the American dream. It provides access to an

          5  education that will set them on the path to success.

          6                 The vast majority of our students

          7  juggle school, work and family. They are not just

          8  students, they are workers and heads of households.

          9                 They already struggle to meet the

         10  costs of our education. Any increase in tuition

         11  would be a burden on most of our students.

         12                 However, an increase of this

         13  magnitude will make it impossible for many of our

         14  most disadvantaged students to continue their

         15  education.

         16                 Our students are worried. We are

         17  worried for them. Our poorer students, the ones who

         18  will be most affected by this increase, are the ones

         19  who can least afford to cut their education short.

         20                 And New York cannot afford to cut

         21  their education short either.

         22                 CUNY is a long-term investment in our

         23  communities.

         24                 Queensborough Community College has

         25  one of the best nursing programs in the State. We
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          2  also have an outstanding business program.

          3                 Many of our students study computers

          4  and go on to careers in technology. We have students

          5  who graduate from QCC and immediately enter the

          6  workforce, and others who go on to four-year

          7  colleges. QCC often serves as a gateway to further

          8  education.

          9                 Our graduates stay and work in our

         10  communities. They are nurses, they are teachers,

         11  they start small businesses, and become productive

         12  members of their communities, lifting themselves up

         13  and lifting up those around them. They become part

         14  of the tax base.

         15                 This tuition increase doesn't just

         16  hurt the dreams and aspirations of individual

         17  students, it destroys the dreams and aspirations of

         18  our students' families and the community they live

         19  in. Thank you.

         20                 PROFESSOR O'BRIEN: I'm Tony O'Brien.

         21  I teach English at Queens College. I was just

         22  speaking out with a colleague of mine that I've

         23  taught 7,000 students at City University in my

         24  career.

         25                 So, I would like to address a couple
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          2  of points that I think have not been mentioned. One

          3  is, the value of a CUNY education is not just

          4  instrumental. It's not just in increasing your

          5  upward mobility and so forth. The value of an

          6  education, which is sometimes against the

          7  curriculum, sometimes against the model of the

          8  institution, is to produce critical intellectuals

          9  who come from a working class base, organic

         10  intellectuals, who require in the University

         11  something that they can use, the self-understanding,

         12  the self-organization, and for social change. That

         13  is why people fear the City University. They fear

         14  what it is producing, against the grain. I think.

         15                 The second point is that people have

         16  said that the tuition is essentially a user fee for

         17  what students themselves already pay for, as

         18  taxpayers, so it's a double taxation.

         19                 I just invite people to think about a

         20  user fee for parks, for Central Park, for Prospect

         21  Park, for Cunningham Park.  Imagine preventing

         22  people from going into the park with their bicycles

         23  or going in their jogging shorts, until they pay a

         24  fee. The reason why that's unthinkable is because

         25  they haven't done it yet.
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          2                 That, too, could be normalized, it

          3  could be naturalized, it could become part of the

          4  routine. So, I do ask people to think about the need

          5  to denaturalize this idea.

          6                 As many people have said, I agree,

          7  education is a human right, and it should be free,

          8  public and compulsory through college. We should

          9  have compulsory public college education, not simply

         10  free college education.

         11                 There's a great vista, those students

         12  who are talking about going on the offensive are

         13  exactly right, we have to reopen all of these

         14  questions about the meaning of education.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MS. KACHUCK: Good afternoon. I'm

         17  Beatrice Kachuck. I am an emerita professor at CUNY,

         18  at Brooklyn College in Education, at the Graduate

         19  Center in Educational Psychology and Women's

         20  Studies.

         21                 Emerita, for those of you who don't

         22  know, means that I retired with merit, sort of a

         23  honorary thing. I got promotions up to the point of

         24  full professor, and when you're full professor it's

         25  almost automatic, it is automatic to become an
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          2  emerita professor.

          3                 Besides teaching, which must have

          4  gone well, because student evaluations are part of

          5  the promotion procedure. I think I brought credit to

          6  CUNY, I published, which is what you have to do. I

          7  won research grants, I won two full grant awards.

          8  For those I was a visiting professor in India. It is

          9  embarrassing to me that we are here fighting to hold

         10  the line on tuition for students, India, despite the

         11  widespread, is in deep, deep poverty in the country,

         12  has free tuition for colleges and universities,

         13  despite intense pressure by the World Bank and INS

         14  to privatize the higher education system.

         15                 I came, going along with something

         16  Tony just said, having been at CUNY and doing the

         17  kind of work that I do for so many years, has always

         18  provided me with a rich basis for my retirement

         19  years. I'm writing a book on research, many research

         20  projects that I did a couple of years ago.

         21                 I heard about this hearing at the

         22  Women's Studies Committee, at the PSC, Professional

         23  Staff Congress in CUNY. I came here actually not to

         24  say no more increase in tuition, I came here to urge

         25  you to adopt the same democratic progressive policy

                                                            165

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  that was enforced when I was a student at Brooklyn

          3  College, there was no tuition fee at all. So, you

          4  can imagine how glad I was to hear that you have a

          5  Subcommittee that is working on just that, and in a

          6  few minutes I will suggest a couple of sources for

          7  what that money can come from.

          8                 I would not be where I am today if

          9  there had been tuition at Brooklyn College. My

         10  parents were immigrants. I grew up on welfare. One

         11  of my junior high school teachers said anyone who

         12  wants to work can find a job. In a sense she was

         13  right. My parents did find work for a couple of days

         14  at a time from time to time. They were welfare

         15  teachers, welfare didn't pay enough to feed and

         16  cloth children adequately in those days any more

         17  than they do now, than it does now.

         18                 We may have been recorded

         19  statistically in neglected children. When social

         20  workers came to the house, we told them what we were

         21  taught to say. "Where is your mother?"

         22                 "I don't know."

         23                 "When will she be back?"

         24                 "I don't know."

         25                 I'm trying to give you a picture of
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          2  some of the realities that have not been mentioned

          3  yet in dealing with poverty.

          4                 I want to give you examples of the

          5  results, some good results, of free tuition.

          6                 Exhibit A. My coat. My winter coat.

          7  Would you like to touch it? See how warm it is?

          8  What's remarkable about that? When I was at CUNY, I

          9  didn't have a warm coat.

         10                 I often remember the day that I was

         11  on my way to the library and I was so cold. It was

         12  as though my bones were shivering, and I decided to

         13  go to my job instead. A classmate invited me to her

         14  home to do a homework assignment with her, an extra

         15  nickel, but I decided to push the budget, and you

         16  know what wonderful thing I discovered at her house?

         17  Some people have dictionaries and encyclopedias at

         18  home. They don't have to go to the library to look

         19  things up every day.

         20                 Exhibit 2. My shoe.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: These exhibits

         22  are scaring me. I don't want you to keep taking

         23  things off. We're in a public place here and I'm

         24  getting a little nervous.

         25                 MS. KACHUCK: Last one.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Don't go further

          3  than the shoe. I can't handle the coat and the shoe,

          4  but we have to stop you at the shoe.

          5                 MS. KACHUCK: Okay. But do you see

          6  what's special about that? I'll bet you don't. Ten

          7  years old and there's no hole in the sole. No, no,

          8  there's a little chip, okay.

          9                 When I was at Brooklyn College I'd

         10  line -- my shoes didn't last long, the soles didn't

         11  last long, I lined my shoes with newspaper and

         12  whatever paper I could find so that my socks would

         13  not tear, okay?

         14                 My first two years at Brooklyn, I had

         15  a part-time job. More examples of the kind of

         16  details that go into poverty. My job paid for the

         17  registration fee, for car fare, for books, poor

         18  students sell their books at the end of the

         19  semester, but the books you need for the next

         20  semester always cost more, so you're always behind.

         21                 After two years, after my sophomore

         22  year, I switched from day school and part-time jobs

         23  to night school --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Ms. Kachuck,

         25  could you please --
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          2                 MS. KACHUCK: Yes, okay. And full-time

          3  work, pay tuition? No. My parents were no longer on

          4  welfare, they had jobs, but they were not earning

          5  enough, and I had to help to support them. People

          6  say that students are different today. I want to

          7  give you a picture of just a few examples, bear with

          8  me, of students --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You're going to

         10  have to wrap it up.

         11                 MS. KACHUCK: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We have one more

         13  still yet to go and we should have been gone by now.

         14                 MS. KACHUCK: Okay, so, I won't tell

         15  you about the kind of students you have not heard

         16  about yet.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: All right.

         18                 MS. KACHUCK: But I will suggest where

         19  you can get the money from. Or a couple of sources

         20  to get the money.

         21                 One is to stop the corporate welfare

         22  for real estate moguls who order the construction of

         23  so many office buildings in this City that there

         24  were 11,000 square feet of unoccupied office space

         25  in New York City before 9/11.
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          2                 And the other source I would suggest

          3  goes along with what you suggested earlier, Chairman

          4  Barron, and that was taxing people, the

          5  millionaires, but I will be more specific, and

          6  mention that this example, the millionaires and

          7  billionaires, the Jack Welches and Michael

          8  Bloombergs.

          9                 MR. LESNICK: Good afternoon. Thank

         10  you for holding this hearing. My name is Henry

         11  Lesnick. I'm a Professor of English at Hostos

         12  College. I have been privileged for the last 35

         13  years to be a participant in what I regard to be one

         14  of the great democratic experiments of modern

         15  history, the City University of New York, and the

         16  Open Admissions Policy that has enabled people who

         17  are otherwise disenfranchised, otherwise did not

         18  have the opportunity to move on to higher education

         19  to do so.

         20                 I, myself, am also a product of open

         21  admissions, my total tuition for a PhD, from the

         22  time I entered school til I graduated was $265. I'm

         23  thankful for that. I want to make the point that the

         24  attendance at City University has been a great

         25  victory for the civil rights movement, instituted as
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          2  a result of civil rights pressure, as well as

          3  immediate levy, activity at City College. But it is

          4  a victory.

          5                 First, let me say this: People should

          6  understand the magnitude of that victory.

          7                 Since open admissions was instituted

          8  in 1970, more than 500,000 people have graduated

          9  from City University. There are predominantly people

         10  of color, minority people, poor working people, more

         11  than have graduated from any other University in the

         12  300 years preceding 1970 in the history of this

         13  country. It is a great victory and it is being

         14  eroded.

         15                 It came in the period with the voters

         16  rights victory, as well, but as the voters, some of

         17  the gains in the voters rights were eroded as we saw

         18  in Florida in 2000, there is a national campaign to

         19  deny the victory of CUNY. The great victory of CUNY

         20  and the great expression democratic higher

         21  education.

         22                 Don't let it happen because the

         23  alternatives as we see are grim for poor working

         24  people, first in New York and then throughout the

         25  country. And I would urge us here in the audience
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          2  and you up there to come to fight. This is a

          3  struggle that is of historic importance, as well as

          4  with great importance to the students and their

          5  families and their communities.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          7  much for the testimony, and we have to close our

          8  hearing at this time. We want to thank all of you

          9  for your patience, for staying for the duration of

         10  the hearing.

         11                 We assure you that next month is

         12  Black History Month, we'll be having a hearing on

         13  affirmative action and Higher Education. We're going

         14  to look at the President's position on that, and

         15  it's impact on CUNY, and also on immigration, and on

         16  February 13th and Februray 19th we're doing a

         17  briefing on reparations and this is during Black

         18  History Month, they gave us the coldest and the

         19  shortest month of the year, but we're going to make

         20  the best out of it.

         21                 Thank you very much for your

         22  patience. This meeting is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)
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